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MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.  The Board is sitting today in the matter of application EB-2007-0050, pursuant to section 92 of the Ontario Energy Board Act submitted by Hydro One Networks.


The application is for a leave to construct for transmission reinforcement project between the Bruce Power facility and the Milton Switching Station.


My name is Pamela Nowina.  I am the presiding member in this proceeding.  Joining me on the Panel are fellow Board Members Ms. Cynthia Chaplin and Mr. Ken Quesnelle.


For those of you who were here in the other proceedings, Mr. Bill Rupert is no longer assigned to this case.


Pursuant to Procedural Order No. 4, the Board is sitting today to determine what changes, if any, should be made to the current issues list in the EB-2007-0050 proceeding on account of Hydro One's amendments to the application.


The Board also received correspondence from several parties requesting amendments to the current schedule, and we will hear these submissions after we deal with the proposed amendments to the issues list.  May I have appearances, please?

Appearances:


MR. FALLIS:  Peter Fallis, representing the Fallis Group.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Fallis.


MR. ROSS:  Quinn Ross appearing from the Ross Firm Group.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Ross.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Murray Klippenstein for Pollution Probe.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Klippenstein.


MR. SPERDUTI:  Frank Sperduti for PowerLine Connections.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Sperduti.


MR. NETTLETON:  Gord Nettleton on behalf of Hydro One.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Nettleton.


MR. RATTRAY:  John Rattray for the Independent Electricity System Operator.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rattray.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning.  Richard Stephenson for the Power Workers' Union.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.


MR. MACINTOSH:  David MacIntosh for Energy Probe, and I would like to enter an appearance for Peter Faye, our counsel, who is unable to be here this morning.


MS. NOWINA:  Will Mr. Faye be joining us later, Mr. MacIntosh?


MR. MACINTOSH:  Not today.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.


MS. ROSENGARTEN:  Joanna Rosengarten, Bruce Power.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Rosengarten.


MR. MILLAR:  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  With me are Mr. Nabih Mikhail and Ms. Zora Crnojacki.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Is Mr. Pappas as here?


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I do understand he plans to attend today.  As I understand, no one has actually heard from him this morning.  Presumably he is running a little bit late.  I can check my voice mail on a break, perhaps, if he is still not here, but I do expect that he will attend.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  On the matter of the issues list, which we will deal with first, from the submissions we received, I understand that Mr. Ross, Mr. Sperduti, Mr. Pappas, if he should be here, and Mr. Nettleton will want to make submissions on the issues list.


Does anyone else want to make submissions on the issues list?


MR. RATTRAY:  The IESO would make brief submissions in support of the position taken by Hydro One.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, Mr. Rattray.  Thank you.


MR. FALLIS:  The Fallis Group will be making submissions in support of Mr. Ross and Mr. Sperduti.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, Mr. Fallis.  So the order will proceed in terms of the issues.  We will hear first from Mr. Ross, I think, then Mr. Sperduti, Mr. Pappas if he is here.  Yes, sir.


MR. LENNOX:  My name is Earl Lennox, and I am a landowner.  I wonder if you are aware --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Excuse me, sir.  Could you step forward to a microphone?


MR. LENNOX:  My name is Earl Lennox.  I am a landowner.


MS. NOWINA:  You will have to come forward to one of the chairs that has a microphone, sir.


MR. LENNOX:  My name is Earl Lennox.  I am an affected landowner.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, sir.


MR. LENNOX:  The memo was sent out to over 130 people 41 hours and 50 minutes ago with the date and time and no location.  Were you aware of that?


MS. NOWINA:  I was aware that the letter was sent out, yes.


MR. LENNOX:  Well, I am asking you, is this a fair and proper hearing when you don't even tell people where you are holding it?


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Millar, did the procedural order set down the date and location of the hearing?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair.  The procedural order sets down the date, the time and location.  There was a reminder letter that went out, I guess Tuesday, and that is probably the letter Mr. Lennox is referring to.


I don't have it in front of me and it is possible that that did not reconfirm the location.  The location is set out in Procedural Order No. 4.


MS. NOWINA:  The procedural order went out on what date?


MR. MILLAR:  The procedural order went out on February 7th, 2008.  It states that, if necessary, this date will be held February 21st, 9:30 a.m., at the Board's offices at 2300 Yonge Street.  We sent out a reminder letter on Tuesday confirming that the attendance would take place.


I take it that letter didn't remind parties of the location.  Again, I don't have it in front of me, but those are the correspondence from the Board.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So apologies, Mr. Lennox, for the reminder letter not containing the location, but the earlier procedural order did.  So parties should have been aware of the date, the time and the location from that earlier procedural order.


MR. LENNOX:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  You're welcome.  Mr. Ross, would you like to begin?

SUBMISSIONS ON THE ISSUES LIST

Submissions by Mr. Ross:

MR. ROSS:  Thank you, Madam Chair, members of the Board.  I guess the issues themselves are relatively straightforward.  The justification for their inclusion is what I am going to focus on very briefly, and I shouldn't be too long at all.


I think that the nub of the argument - and I infer this from reading my friend from Hydro One's submissions - is whether, in fact, the EA process and the OEB process are out of step at this point.  Clearly, that's what the issues I have suggested be added are contemplating, is this out-of-sync issue, and attempting to mitigate any problems that may be caused by the fact that it is out of sync and we may be still proceeding.


Again, if the time line is amended significantly, these issues may not be necessary.  So although we're dealing with the time line at the end, there is a nexus between the two.


The concern that I attempt to address on behalf of my clients in the suggested amendments that deal with the EA terms of reference and assessment process are simply that without even a framework for what is to be covered in the environmental assessment process, and what we can expect to see from the environmental assessment process, can any of the other issues be determined in the absence of that information?


If they can be determined, what extra steps need to be taken by this Board in order to do so?


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Ross, could you help me a bit?  We of course visited this issue when we looked at the issues the first time around, and I am just wondering if perhaps you could help me understand how the various time lines, where we are vis-à-vis the synchronization of these two processes now compared to where we were when we first considered this issue back with the original decision.


MR. ROSS:  Terms of reference had been submitted, and I think it was anticipated at the time that they would be approved and that the assessment process would have been commenced.  Clearly that's not the case.


A subsequent submission, which -- I believe my friend's position is that the subsequent submission is simply as a result of the amendments to the application.  It would be our submission, that, yes, that is part of the reason for the amendments to the terms of reference submission to the environmental -- the Ministry of the Environment, but it is also because of questions raised by my friends at Pollution Probe, other submissions made by other intervenors, and those submissions continue on with each subsequent amendment; specifically, submissions in response to the terms of reference by my friends at Pollution Probe.


I don't know when we can expect to see the assessment commence.  I don't think it is simply a matter of, Well, we have just filed some new evidence and, as a result, we have amended our terms of reference and it should be going along tickety-boo.  We have no evidence to suggest that.


So my concern is, and what I am attempting to address here with these issues, is that the Board made an order.  The order is, in my opinion -- Hydro One is not able to comply with that order, due to no fault of their own, but simply due to the mechanisms of the two processes that are running alongside of one another.  As a result, there will be yet again a vacuum of information.

And I agree, I understand and accept fully the mandate and purview of this Board.  However, in determining the issues before the Board, it does not preclude you from looking at all of the factors.  It just precludes you from deciding on those factors, in -- if need justification, rate impact, reliability and security are to be determined by this Board, then certain bits of information that may be contained in the process that runs alongside would probably be appropriate.


And then I go to the end of my suggested issue additions and say:  Look, okay, fair enough.  We don't want to consider those things.  The Board has in the past said oh, we will grant conditional approval.  Well, what kind of review mechanisms are in place for that conditional approval?  Once the conditional approval has been granted -- if I can beg the Board's indulgence for a moment.  My -- the status review mechanisms that I suggest at the end of my amendments to the issues list, I will give you a what-if.  The Board grants conditional approval of the leave-to-construct application.  The environmental assessment process goes along and makes some recommendations that will just basically change the look of the project.  What status review mechanisms, but they say okay, your assessment is approved.  You are good to go.  You have that seal of approval.


Unfortunately, you have to go 30 miles to the left here, and you can't put a line here.  And you've got to do completely different things than what was contemplated by the original leave-to-construct application that is clearly within the purview of this Board.  So regardless of whether any of the initial issues are accepted to the list -- and in my submissions, they should be, in that it ensures that the two processes are in sync; it ensures the best evidence rule, which I understand is a rule that this Board would wish to employ, is available.  All of the evidence that relates to this project to be determined is before the Board, and then you have a fulsome view of the entire landscape to determine the mandate of the Board, which I have already stated: reliability, security, rate impact, et cetera.


With regard to the near-term and interim measures this is simply suggesting that, as I state in the letter, that the two aspects of the project are inextricably intertwined and they should be held to the same rigorous standard of review i.e., the near-term and interim measures and the transmission line itself.  And it is interesting that a lot of the pressure that has been coming from the intervenors with regards to suggested alternatives is that these near-term and interim measures may, in and of themselves, be sufficient to meet the needs of the upcoming transmission issue -- the upcoming generation issue that the 500 kV line put forward by the proponent is saying, well we need this line in order to deal with generation, and there's some evidence and I believe experts are modelling as we speak that their near-term and interim measures may be sufficient in and of themselves to meet the needs of the increased generation.


If we have to consider all of the alternatives, then I think that the -- for two reasons, the near-term and interim measures need to be held to the same standard of review and they need to be held to the same standard of need and justification, because they are a part of the project.


Alternatively, they need to be considered a viable alternative and tested the same way all other alternatives are tested and we have already set in the issues list what those alternatives are tested as which is:  Pretend this is the project.  Do the review.  Provide the evidence.  And provide the evidence to either dismiss it or to accept it.  I can assure you that there is certainly going to be no provincial land-use policy issues raised and that has been stumbling block on a lot of the other alternatives we have seen.  So...


MS. NOWINA:  So, Mr. Ross, in considering the near- term and interim measures, you want to look at it as a possible alternative to the solution that has been brought forward by Hydro One?


MR. ROSS:  That's one.


MS. NOWINA:  That's one way to look at it.  Then the second way to look at it is?


MR. ROSS:  It's a part of the project.  And it may already be inferred by my friend at Hydro One, that it will be included in the "concept" of the project.  In order for this project to work, these near-term and interim measures, so submit my friend, are necessary.  If they're necessary, then they are a part of the project and in my respectful submissions, are subject to the same onerous burden of need and justification and analysis and review and -- I mean it is not like we're talking about just one line being pulled.  We are talking about estimates in dollars of 250 to 300 million prior to the actual line being produced.


MS. NOWINA:  But regardless of how substantial it is, Mr. Ross, we don't have authority to -- or we do not need to give a leave to construct for those alternatives.  That's not the application before us, is to provide a leave to construct for those alternative measures.


MR. ROSS:  That's correct.  But I think that without those interim and near-term measures being addressed, you are starting at a point where there is -- let me rephrase.  The project and all of its alternatives being posed are dependent on the near-term and interim measures.  Every single one of them requires, according to the proponent, these near-term and interim measures.  Once the project is in place, the near-term and interim measures are still ongoing.  They are a part of the project.


MS. NOWINA:  So the argument is that the viability of the project is dependent on these, so in examining the project, that one needs to look at the near-term and interim alternatives.


MR. ROSS:  That's exactly right.  I think it can be reduced to the concept, potentially, of rate impact and the appropriateness of that choice in terms of rate impact, if we want to tie it into a mandate issue, but I will retract that and leave it as you so eloquently described.  It is exactly the point I am attempting to make.


Subject to any questions with regards to the issues list amendments that I have made, those would be my submissions.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Ross, on page 3 of your letter, you had an addition to the reliability and quality of electricity issue.  Does that relate to either of the two subjects you have just covered?  Or was there something in addition?


MR. ROSS:  I am not sure I understand the question, but if you would like I can attempt to explain the point and my rationale for it.  If you could rephrase...


MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, I guess I am just trying to understand.  I mean, you have this additional issue.  I would like to understand what it is that gives rise to the need for that, and how, in terms of how it differs from the issues that are already on the list in that section of reliability and quality of electricity service.


MR. ROSS:  Thank you.  I think that's a very important question.  I think what it does is, I left the point without finishing it.  It may be my friend's position that the same standard will apply to the review of the entire project.  When I say "project," I include near-term and interim measures.  If that is the case, 3(b) as I have added it, is unnecessary.


MS. CHAPLIN:  I'm sorry.  Pardon me for interrupting.  I am talking about further down the page where you actually have a complete additional issue under the section that is entitled "Reliability and quality of electricity service". 

"Have appropriate evaluation criteria weightings been utilized in determining project risk factors pertaining to system reliability and quality of electricity service and what additional criteria and weightings could be considered."


Are you saying that is linked to this near-term and interim?


MR. ROSS:  No, I'm sorry I apologize.  I missed what you were talking about.  As you have pointed out, this is a repetition of something that's earlier on.  Again, if my friend believes that this earlier statement in the issues list applies to the entire project in all of its facets, then that is unnecessary.


I, however, am somewhat concerned by the narrowness of my friend's perception with any of the issues raised by the intervenors and as such want to be explicit, so that we don't end up at the leave-to-construct hearing with Hydro One suggesting, well, that only applies to the first section of the issues list but we didn't have to conduct that at every step of the analysis.  So I want to make sure that the appropriate criteria and weightings are available for review for each step of the analysis of the project, and that's why that is repeated there.  Simply out of a concern that the issues list would be read very narrowly in their word, not intent, and we will be stuck arguing for a day about whether we have the breadth of jurisdiction at the leave-to-construct hearing, to discuss the evaluation criteria for the reliability and quality of service in the project.


MS. CHAPLIN:  So essentially -- I don't know if you have in front of you the current issues list.  So I am looking at 4.3 on that list.  So my understanding from your submissions is what you are proposing essentially is to add to that issue this notion of evaluation criteria and criteria weightings.


MR. ROSS:  Exactly.  That's right.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you very much.  That's all I have.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ross.  Mr. Sperduti.

Submissions by Mr. Sperduti:


MR. SPERDUTI:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I apologize up front for my voice.  I am feeling a little under the weather today, so I will try to be brief.


We also submitted a letter to the Board on February 15th outlining one, two, three proposed additional issues, and I share Mr. Ross' concern about time lines and admit that some of the proposed issues are being driven by the time line that the Board has established.


I don't mean to repeat Mr. Ross' submissions, but let me please try to explain it as we see it from PowerLine Connections' perspective.


When the issues list was established originally, the EA terms of reference were expected to be approved imminently.  Now, that was back in September of 2007, and I understood at that time that there was a submission to the Ministry of the Environment, and we had all expected that at least by the time the hearing would commence - at least this hearing would commence - we would have something of progress being made on the terms of reference and the EA process.


As we sit here today in February of 2008, we still don't have approved terms of reference, so absolutely no progress has been made in advancing the EA process.


On the other side of the coin or the other side of the equation, this Board has determined that the hearing of this matter ought to start on May 1st.  So while the EA process is, from our perspective, moving very slowly or perhaps stalled, this Board's process is moving very quickly.


So we are concerned that when the hearing starts and when the issues before this Board, and, in particular, with respect to alternative proposals or alternatives for delivering the service, when the hearing starts, the evidence will be crystallized in this process; yet we will have very little progress, if any, substantive progress on the EA front.


We may have terms of reference to prove; we may.  But if this hearing starts in May, it seems to me that there will be little substantive progress made on that front.


So as I said, a lot of the driving force behind the issues that are being proposed have to do with the fact that this Board's process will crystallize now with its new schedule far in advance of when the terms of reference -- the EA process will be maturing.


Another factor that weighs into the submission that these additional issues ought to be included is the fact that it is very clear, at this point, if this process -- if this Board's hearing starts in May, that there will be a conditional approval; that whatever hope we had that the EA process would have advanced by the time this Board came to hear the matter is gone, and that this Board will be making decisions concerning the project in a relative vacuum of information.


So the ratepayers will be forced to have a very substantial hearing before this Board at a time when the EA process has progressed very little.  We wonder whether the Board ought to be considering this matter so far in advance of the EA process.


So the Board expressed some concern early on that these two processes not be out of step, and we submit that they are, indeed, out of step if the Board's procedural order isn't amended.  And the strength of the Board's conditional order, if it so -- if the Board were to approve the project conditional upon EA approval, and something changes in the EA process, we could have to restart this whole hearing.


And that is the risk that we are trying to guard against and the risk that we are trying to address in the issues that we have proposed.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Sperduti, I don't mean to interrupt your train of thought, but I guess I would ask you the same question I asked Mr. Ross, to understand how we are -- how the synchronization of the two processes is different today than it was when we first considered this issue back when there were the motions to stay or adjourn this leave-to-construct application.


And my perception - this is why I am looking for your help - is at that time, the draft terms of reference had been filed and yet there was an expectation that they would be approved at some point, and the Board, in its decision, said they would consider the timing of the hearing if they weren't.


I am wondering, have they both moved along in the same way, or are we in a different situation now than we were then?  That's what I am trying to understand.


MR. SPERDUTI:  When the Board made its order, the draft terms of reference had been submitted.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Right.


MR. SPERDUTI:  The Board's anticipated timing for the hearing was far enough in advance that we expected, at least when the Board made its original order, that by the time the hearing started, the EA process would be well under way.


What is out of sync now is that the EA process will barely be started, if the terms of reference are even approved, when this Board starts its hearing.


So what has changed is not the beginning side of the equation, but the ending side of the equation, the Board having advanced what some may describe later to you as being a very aggressive schedule for the hearing of this matter, while on the other hand the EA process is no further ahead than it was last summer.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


MR. SPERDUTI:  Added to that, of course, is the fact that there is no guarantee that the terms of reference will be approved in the form submitted by Hydro One.  There were very substantial submissions made by many parties to the Ministry of the Environment concerning those terms of reference.


So it is yet to be seen what will happen, but if this Board maintains the schedule, we will be on the verge of a hearing before we find out.


MR. FALLIS:  Ms. Chaplin, with respect to the question that was raised, the timing --


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, maybe we can ask Mr. Sperduti to finish and we will be going to you.


The other reminder I would like to make is that we are trying to stick to the issues right now.  I realize the two things are very tightly tied together in terms of your concern about the EA and schedule, but if you could make whatever assumptions you're making, and then discuss the issues, then we will get to the schedule.  We will have a very thorough discussion around the concerns regarding schedule.


MR. SPERDUTI:  So with respect to the issue that we have proposed on the first page of our correspondence:  Are ratepayer interests properly served when condition approval of the leave to construct may be rendered moot if the EA process results in changes to the proposed line, and does the assessment of risks and costs take this into consideration, is intended to capture the fact that when this hearing starts, we will be very early on in the EA process and the risk that this Board's approval will be rendered moot is real.


It is much more real now than it was, perhaps, when we originally established the issues list.


On the second page of our correspondence, at the top of the page, we propose to add an additional issue in the project alternatives section, which deals with the new alternative routes or refinements, or however the Board intends to look at them, which HONI have put forward in their revised material.


Those are now specific, and there is no more guesswork about what refinements Hydro One is proposing, as there may have been some uncertainty when the Board originally established the issues list.


Then of course the last issue is related to the first:  Is it appropriate to make an order granting leave to construct, conditional on approval of an EA?


That may very well be -- well, it is included for the purpose -- for the very fact that by the time this process matures and completes, the EA won't have been completed and it is a guarantee now that the Board's approval, if it grants approval, is conditional.


So those are the specific issues and my submissions regarding them, and I am happy to answer any other questions the Board may have.


MS. NOWINA:  We don't have any further questions.  Thank you, Mr. Sperduti.  Mr. Fallis.

Submissions by Mr. Fallis:

MR. FALLIS:  Just on Madam Chaplin's comments, my understanding was that in the month of June when the first motion was brought procedurally before the Board, that Mr. Sperduti and myself, on behalf of my group, raised the issue of the fact that the EA process had to be completed before the Board could render its decision, and the Board made its order.  In fact, it rescheduled dates because they were very, very tight at that point in time, and the hearings that were set for October went to January and the Issues Day went into September and so forth.  That was all made in your Board order that came out in July.  The procedural order.


The actual application -- and I think there was a statement made from, this morning here, that they were in step, that the EA process had been started.  In fact it did not get started until August.  HONI did not make a submission to the Minister Of the Environment until August, I think 3rd -- 2nd or 3rd of this year, and the in the EA process, they set an outside date of September 4th for having all submissions made.  At the request of the PowerLine Group there was a further one-month extension granted.


So they weren't made in step.  They made their application in March to your Board and did not make an application to the Minister of the Environment under the EA process until August.  So they were not made in step.  So they weren't made together.  The process of commentary was delayed until October; and then in November, the -- a further amended terms of reference were submitted by Hydro and another date was set for submission to the Minister of Environment and that was a February date, I do believe.  I didn't make a further submission but I believe that is what it was.


So there was a hiatus created by an amended application that was made.  So the dates aren't -- the comment is not -- I don't think it was correctly stated that there was -- brought together.  There was a gap, and the gap started by the delay in making the application of, I think, of four months by Hydro to the MOE.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you for that.  Do you have submissions on the issues list, as well?


MR. FALLIS:  Well just, I do with respect to the sense of the timelines are driving the issues.  I would submit that the near-term measures that have been discussed by Mr. Ross are issues which, I think, must be, must be looked at by this Board, because it is part of the alternative.  In looking at the overall necessity of the project that's being proposed, for which your approval is sought, one of the things that must happen is, is that a determination must be made by this Board as to whether or not it should go forward.  In looking at that, if there are other alternatives that the near-term measures could resolve and solve, then I think that the Board must look at that.  And it has been -- it has been certainly demonstrated in some of the evidence that we have been able to review, that those things -- those matters are very important and should be before the Board.


I don't have any direct submissions on the issues.  I think -- I do believe that they are included and must be looked at at that point in time.  But they can't be -- so I adopt Mr. Ross' and support his submissions on that point.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Fallis.  Mr. Pappas.


MR. PAPPAS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pappas, are you ready to make your submissions now?  We are hearing submissions on the issues list.  We have heard from all of the parties who want us to reconsider issues and then we will follow with Hydro One afterwards.


MR. PAPPAS:  Okay.


MS. NOWINA:  That leaves just you.  Yes, you can come down to the front if you want.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, Mr. Pappas advised me this morning he had some difficulties with his printer and wasn't actually to make copies of the submissions he had already sent to the Board.  We are trying to get him a set, just so his memory can be refreshed.  We don't happen to have --


MS. NOWINA:  He can use one of ours.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Nettleton or someone may have a spare set.


MS. NOWINA:  Does anyone have one?


MR. PAPPAS:  Thank you very much, and I apologize for my lateness.  I had to rely on a drive so I had to rely on...


MS. NOWINA:  That's all right, Mr. Pappas.  Thank you for coming.  You can make your submissions sitting down.  Everyone else does.

Submissions by Mr. Pappas:

MR. PAPPAS:  All right.  I have suggested some additions to the issues list and I will just go over them in order.  All right.  The first one is under project need and justification.  I have added it as 1.5.  It doesn't matter.  I just did that for ease.  

"Can all appropriate project risk factors pertaining to need and justification be taken into consideration prior to the completion of environmental act, terms of reference, and or assessment report?


Now, that was -- that I borrowed and I felt strongly enough, it was Mr. Quinn's submission.  I felt strongly enough about it that I added into mine, as well, just because how strong I feel about it.  

1.6:   Has all due diligence required been applied in consideration of the project need and justification?  


As I feel that, in any application of any kind - not even the ones before the Energy Board, applications period - it seems to me to be an absolute requirement that before an application can go forward, all of the studies have to be done and available in evidence.  Otherwise, that is evidence that cannot be considered.  How can you consider it if it is not before you?


It also seems to me that it is absolutely required to have all of the due diligence studies, because if you don't have them, then really, the application is inappropriate.  That's my feeling on it.  All right.


So now project alternatives.  A, 2(a), again -– the same as the other one, only in terms of project alternative is: 

Can all of the reasonable alternatives to the project be identified prior to the completion of the environmental act, terms of reference, and or assessment report?  

2.1(a):  Has all due diligence required been applied and identification consideration and evaluation of all reasonable applicable alternatives to the preferred option?  

(b):   Were any possible alternatives pre-screened by the applicant, OPA or IESO and excluded from the technical studies parameters dictated to the consultants? 


Now, that is it a reasonable question, because as we now, a contracting body can determine what particular way they do want -- what they want, actually consulted on.  And they may define certain terms, so that it doesn't go outside of that.  What we need to know is whether any of the alternative options were excluded from the study, because if it turns out that they are viable options, then they should have been included in the study and presented as evidence.  B -- or C, rather:  

If there were no exclusions of alternatives from the parameters to the consultant's study, were all of the consultants recommendations regarding reasonable alternatives considered or was there a final exclusionary process precluding further consideration of any of the reasonable alternatives in the process as identified in the consultant's recommendations?  


What I am saying there is, I am not talking about the -- once it went to IESO or to OPA.  The study was contracted between Hydro One and ABB, as far as I am given to understand, which means that before it was looked -- I know there is an IESO study that remarks on the -- or report that remarks on the ABB study.  It doesn't go into great depth, but it remarks on it and how they feel it should be.


But, you know, my consideration here is:  Prior to the IESO's consideration of the results of that study, was there final parameters set by the contracting agent - that is, Hydro One - on what they would consider before it went to the next agency?


So we have the option -- we have two things that can happen here.  One, is the original parameters may or may not have excluded certain lines of enquiry.  However, once the study was done, did the study itself go on to the IESO directly, or did the contracting body decide their own recommendations on the study, and then that went to IESO for evaluation?  Because it is clear from the document the only document which the ABB study has even mentioned, there are no -- it's only remarked upon.


There are no direct reference references, quotes or excerpts from the study.  There is just remarks made by the IESO.  So we have no way (a) to understand how the IESO determined their recommendations, because at no point do they say they're the recommendations of the consultant.  


And, as we know, as I said, in general, a contracting body not only can set the parameters; they're not -- under no obligation to do anything.  Like, they can totally ignore the results of the study, if they don't feel it is appropriate.  There is no law that says a municipality has to do what some waste-management consulting firm says they should do.  It is the same here.  There is no chain here that we can be shown so that we can understand how they made these determinations regarding alternatives and alternative options.  All right.  

Has an appropriate evaluation methodology been applied to all of the alternatives considered, including the recommendations of the Transmission System Code, regarding good utility practice, per definition 1.2.38?


Now, this is very important, because the applicant was talking about the requirements set by NERC and MPCC, and they stated that their own requirements and the IESO were more stringent than those requirements.


Well, it is my understanding, first of all, that the requirements of the NERC and MPCC are the minimum requirements.  In other words, if you go below that, there's a problem with those agencies.  They're not specifying some level to reach for.  They're saying these are the minimum requirements.


This good utility practice that is in the Transmission System Code is also within -- is a concept that is understood throughout all of the agencies, MPCC and all of the other sister agencies around the continent, and what it means there is that there is a level of -- there's a level that exceeds, an acceptable level that exceeds the requirements of NERC and MPCC, and that this level is a level of electrical technology that is in use and accepted as conventional across North America.


So we are talking about things that -- they're way beyond minimum requirements.  Now, that doesn't mean everybody has to do them, but what it's saying is is that they believe that any project that reaches for those levels, since those existing things are considered conventional, that it is appropriate to do that.  It's not like risky, science fiction, hasn't been done before.  These are all technology in use in projects and builds across North America that are accepted as conventional and right.


MS. NOWINA:  I think we understand your point, Mr. Pappas, that you would like, under 2.2, the consideration of whether or not that standard was met.


MR. PAPPAS:  Yes.  And also I think that given that, it is one of the rankings that should be applied to both the preferred project as well as the alternatives.  How do they rank compared with acceptable practice across North America?


2.4(a)(1), and that's appropriate evaluation.  

Are these evaluations criteria and criteria weightings in 2.4 consistent with and equal to the current recommendations and requirements of the other MPCC members or recommendations of NERC and the recommendations of the Transmission System Code regarding good utility practice per definition?


For the same reasons, but since that is a different -- 2.4 is different from 2.3, it had to be put in again.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Pappas, will your line of reasoning and submissions be the same for what you have included as 2.4(b)(1) and (c)(1)?


MR. PAPPAS:  Yes, except that the questions there are different.


MS. CHAPLIN:  I understand, but it is the same reasoning and you have the same sort of reason for why you think they should be included?


MR. PAPPAS:  My explanation is the same ones that I went at length through, but now I don't have to repeat it, because this comes up a number of times.


MS. CHAPLIN:  That's true.


MR. PAPPAS:  Okay, (a), (b) -- 2.4(b)(1), and, again, this is appropriate comparisons have been carried out.  So (b)(1) is:  Were those comparisons considered relative to the recommendations of the Transmission Code regarding good utility practice, et cetera?


(c) is, Do they meet applicable standards?  So (c)(1):  

Are these standards for reliability and quality of electric system service consistent with and equal to the current recommendations and requirements of the other MPCC members and the recommendations of NERC and the recommendations of the Transmission System Code regarding good utility practice per definition?


Again, for the same reasoning applied to a different question.


2.5, 2. -- I think 2.6 is one of my additions, I believe.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, it is.


MR. PAPPAS:  Again, it comes down to the same thing.  Oh, no.


MS. CHAPLIN:  I believe your third bullet point, you are proposing an addition.  The original said the operating, maintenance and administration requirements, and I believe you are proposing to get the --


MR. PAPPAS:  Oh, yes, yes.  Again, this goes back to Mr. Quinn, and I find this more than reasonable, enough that I felt that it had to be added here.


Three, near-term and interim measures, and 3.1 of course:  Are the proposed near-term and interim measures as outlined in the application appropriate?  So (a) is:  

Are the proposed near-term and interim measures as outlined in the application appropriate in terms of the Transmission System Code regarding good utility practice per definition?  

Again, the same reasons.


MS. NOWINA:  It is the same reasoning.


MR. PAPPAS:  Has all due diligence required been applied in identification, consideration and evaluation of all considered as well as proposed near-term and interim measures?


Again, going right back to the beginning, because I think that it is absolutely essential that all of the appropriate studies be done before anything is considered.  I don't find it appropriate that things are put off for the future when the process and the hearings are now.


4, 4.1.  I have 4.1(a), reliability and quality of electricity service:

"For the preferred options, does the project meet all of the requirements as identified in the System Impact Assessment and the Customer Impact Assessment?"


Well, I will say this before I read this out.  The problem here is that particular issue, as stated, to me is somewhat irrelevant because the system impact assessment and customer impact assessment are based directly on whatever the IESO is provided for by Hydro One, including the ABB study which nobody has seen.  In other words, those particular system impact assessments and customer impact assessments for this particular issue may be -- like, they may be faulty because they didn't have the full information.  They're not necessarily based on the full information, because again, as I pointed out earlier, we don't know whether or not the IESO had full access to the study and all of its recommendations before they made their recommendations.  Because after all, it was Hydro One that was a contractor.  Not IESO, nor OPA.  So it goes:  

Are these requirements as identified in the system impact assessment and customer impact assessment consistent with and equal to the current recommendations and requirements of the other MPCC members and recommendations of NERC and also equal to the standards of installed transmission solutions as defined, including the recommendations of the Transmission System Code regarding good utility practice?  


4.2:  

Does the project meet applicable standards for reliability and quality of electricity service?  A:  Are these standards for reliability and quality of electricity service consistent with and equal to the current recommendations requirements of other MPC members and the recommendations of NERC, and also equal to the standards of installed transmission solutions including the recommendations of the Transmission System Code regarding good utility practice?  


4.3, 4.4; I believe 4.5 is an alteration or an addition by myself.  It is the last one here.  And it says, okay, 4.4: 

Do the alternatives meet all of the requirements as identified in system impact and customer impact?


4.5:  

Do all the alternatives meet applicable standards for reliabilities and quality of electric service including the recommendations of the Transmission System Code regarding good utility practice per definition 1.2.


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, Mr. Pappas.  4.4, is that a new one that you are suggesting be an issue?  It isn't highlighted in the version I have, and you have helpfully highlighted all of your suggested changes.  


MR. PAPPAS:  I think -- I thought 4.4, I could be confused here but I thought 4.4 was an existing one and 4.5 was my addition of it.  If anybody has the original -- 


MS. NOWINA:  My list does not have a 4.4.  


MR. PAPPAS:  Okay, then I must have added 4.4.  Thank you very much for pointing that out.  4.3:  Have all of the appropriate risk factors pertaining to system reliability and quality of electricity service -- oh, I see.  Okay.  That's 4.3.  So 4.4:  Do all of the alternative meet all of the requirements. 


MS. NOWINA:  So the difference between that and 4.1, which is already on the list, is that 4.1 says for the preferred option.  


MR. PAPPAS:  Yes. 


MS. NOWINA:  4.4 says:  "Do the alternatives meet," and so I wondered if you were recommending that issue be added to the list.


MR. PAPPAS:  Yes.  Thank you.  That is exactly why I put it in there.  I am sorry for being in a bit of confusion right now, but you hit the mark.  That is exactly why I added 4.4, was so that we looked at the alternatives as well as the preferred option because that wasn't mentioned.  


Again 4.5, finally:  

Do the alternatives meet applicable standards for reliability and quality of electric service including the recommendations of the Transmission System Code regarding good utility practice?  


And just a final short thing on that is, if these alternatives are, in fact, in widespread and long usage in the rest of North America, and even in this province -- because there are a half dozen other projects that involve some of these alternatives and one ha already been completed and the other four or five have already been -- already been here and been approved.  So we are talking about not only is this stuff considered conventional and appropriate throughout the whole continent, we have a case of at least five or six in our own jurisdiction which is why that Transmission Code item is so important.  If these things are appropriate, perhaps these final screening itself was inappropriate, the way things were ranked.


There is an item, it isn't here but it is in my other submissions but I'll just briefly bring it right up now, that -- oh, how does that go?  I'm sorry.  Sometimes I have the thing right in my mind and I go and say something else and I lose it.  The orange case, it is lost for now.  I will be looking at the others and I will bring it up then.  It was right there in my mind and it fit perfectly with what we were talking about and it’s gone.  I’m very sorry about that.  Thank you for...


MS. NOWINA:  That's all right.  Mr. Pappas.  Thank you very much for your submissions.  Mr. Nettleton. 

Submissions by Mr. Nettleton: 


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Board Members, good morning.  My submissions are organized to, again, to deal firstly with the issues list matters and I will save my comments on the timing issues that my friend, Mr. Klippenstein, has raised in his submission for later.  


As it relates to the issues list amendments that have been proposed by parties, there is really two themes that I want to discuss with the Board.  They have been grouped into categories of overarching concerns, and then concerns that are specific to each of the proposed amended issues.  So let me start with the overarching concerns.  The question that we have asked ourselves is, why we are here in respect of this matter.  


MS. NOWINA:  Excuse me for a moment, Mr. Nettleton.  Mr. Fallis, Mr. Pappas can you turn off your mike, please.  


MR. PAPPAS:  Oh, I'm sorry.  There we go.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Go ahead, Mr. Nettleton, I'm sorry.  


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  The answer to the simple question of why we're here is because of what is stated in Procedural Order No. 4.  Procedural Order No. 4 was issued, though, as a result of Hydro One undertaking local route refinements studies in three areas, and that these local route refinements were set out in the November 30th, 2007 application amendment filing that was made with the Board.  Presumably it is these amendments that have precipitated the Board's reasons to revisit the current issues list.


We had assumed that that was intended to allow new parties that were potentially affected by the route study areas to have an opportunity to address the current issues list.  What we had not intended or understood was that Procedural Order No. 4 was contemplated to, in effect, be a review and variance proceeding of all of the issues that the Board had made determinations of through the Issues Day process, both the process where there was consensus built around the issues, as well as addressing those issues that consensus could not be achieved, and, indeed, the contested issues were addressed by the Board.  


So as an overarching concern, we are unclear as to what and why we are here now talking about the issues list in the context that we find ourselves in; namely, with those parties that participated actively in the original issues list proceeding, where matters concerning things such as the timing of the EA process, and the Board's own process were raised and debated and decided upon, and that we are now revisiting those issues again.  There is nothing, in our submission, Madam Chair, that is found in Hydro One's amendment application that would cause the result that my friends are seeking, and that is a review and variance of all of the issues, and a reconsideration of the issues on matters and arguments that have, in large measure, been considered before you in the Issues Day and in the motions day process.

What appears, again, to have been the underlying and original intent of the Board through issuance of Procedural Order No. 4 was whether the amendment application that Hydro One has filed really gives rise to any new issues; and, those new issues, whether those new issues should be considered in light of the already predeterminations made on the issues list.


We took into account, Madam Chair, the fact that the amendment application that was made was, in large measure, predicated upon the determinations that the Board made in Issues Day about concerns over routing, and about alternatives, and about ensuring that the EA process and the OEB's process, as it relates to route, were aligned.


We thought that in light of the fact that landowners had come forward and raised concerns about potential route refinements, and that those route refinement matters were being considered as part of the EA process vis-à-vis the terms of reference, that it would be absolutely essential for us to ensure that there was consistency between what was going on with the terms of reference and what is going on in the OEB process, to ensure that alignment.


So as it comes back to the Procedural Order No. 4 matter, we don't think -- we submit that nothing that Hydro One has done in respect of the amendment application has invalidated the predeterminations that the Board has made with respect to Issues Day and with respect to the orders and the decisions taken in that regard.


The amendment application, as noted in Procedural Order No. 4, again, is predicated upon these route refinement studies being conducted.  That's in large measure -- there were some other amendments that were made, but, in large measure, that was the most substantive item of the amendment application, and, indeed, this is what is referenced in Procedural Order No. 4.


With respect to the Issues Day decision and the Board's order, again, one of the overarching concerns that we have is that parties seem to have forgotten that that order and that decision set out some pretty important principles relating to the proper purpose of an issues list.


What the Board said, you will recall, is that the purpose of the issues list is to define the scope of the project and to articulate questions that the Board must address in reaching a decision.  The Board also said that it is inappropriate to determine the list in complete detail, as sub-issues will arise and ultimately form the basis of argument.


Again, as an overarching concern, what we now find ourselves in, Madam Chair, is, I think, a revisitation of those purposes and a question of whether or not we're revisiting and trying to challenge or whether parties are attempting to challenge those as being the proper purposes and objectives of the issues list.


We are not suggesting, and won't suggest, that Mr. Pappas' argument -- Mr. Pappas' additions, in large measure, are matters that he can't consider during the course of the hearing.  We believe that the issues list that currently exists, that talks about matters concerning appropriate standards, are ones that have been identified in the issues list, and Mr. Pappas and others may very well wish to challenge and ask questions to Hydro One about those standards and whether those standards have -- involve appropriate due diligence, or whether the standards that he thinks should apply, in fact, do in Hydro One's submission.


But those are not matters for the issues list, the individual sub-issues, in our submission.  Those are the best -- if they're relevant, are best considered during the information request and response process or, indeed, through cross-examination.


I will get to the individual suggested additions in a minute, but back to the Issues Day process.  You will recall, Madam Chair and Board Members, that the Board also went out of its way to make determinations regarding the contested issues, and particularly contested issues respecting the EA and the OEB process timing.  And, for example, contested issue 1.2 was expressly stated as being:  

"Should leave to construct be granted now or should the consideration of need and justification for the line and the leave to construct being sought be deferred until completion of an approved Environmental Assessment Report or at least approved terms of references?"


It sounds remarkably similar to what matters have been brought before you through the submissions of my friends today.


As it relates to that particular issue, the Board found, both in Motions Day and in Issues Day, that it was premature to determine whether the schedule and finalization of the leave to construct should be revised.


What the Board said is that it would take the step of reassessing the issue, relative to timing of the leave to construct and the EA, if the proposed terms of reference are not approved in advance of the oral hearing.


Neither Hydro One's amendment application, nor Procedural Order No. 4, has caused a misalignment of the OEB and EA processes, in our respectful submission.  Indeed, the alignment of these two processes has been maintained by, again, Hydro One filing the proposed routing alternative studies and to ensure that the general route in each process is maintained.


The issue that no party has come before you with to say is that there is evidence, demonstrable evidence, that there is now some misalignment, that the terms of reference will not be approved before the proposed May 1 start-up of the oral hearing of the leave-to-construct application.


So why, then, are we going back and revisiting contested issues that were dismissed by the Board that were premised upon timing and EA process overlap?


Issues, for example, again, 1.2 and 2.7, contested issues 2.7, were dismissed by the Board.  And 2.7, you will recall, dealt with: 

"Can a reasonable cost benefit analysis be prepared in the absence of an EA report?"


Again, there what the Board said was the Board has already decided that the earlier contested issue related to relative timing of the EA process and the leave to construct will not be added to the issues list for the same reason that this contested issue will not be added.


So if parties are now attempting to revisit the same matter under the guise of the invitation found in Procedural Order No. 4, we say that was never the Board's intent; that if the Board had intended that, that there would have been a strong order to the effect that the Board was intending to have a rehearing on all of the issues forming the issues list.


We submit that that wasn't the intent.  The intent was to revisit the issues list, keeping in mind what gave rise to it; namely, the filing of the amendments that included potential detailed route changes based on landowner concerns and consultations, and to consider whether any of that new evidence should give rise to modifications of the issues, particularly as it concerned new parties to the proceeding that may be affected by the route changes, the potential route changes.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Nettleton.


MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Am I correct that Hydro One has filed new proposed terms of reference?


MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.


MS. CHAPLIN:  With respect to the EA process?


MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.  I will be happy to get there.


MS. CHAPLIN:  I'm sorry, I thought you had sort of completed that thought.  Don't let me interrupt you.


MR. NETTLETON:  It is a good thought and the two issues are overlapping, if you will, of the terms of reference and I am happy to articulate those.  I was going to articulate those when speaking to Mr. Klippenstein's matter of timing.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Oh, I would actually like to hear it now.


MR. NETTLETON:  Okay.  With respect to the terms of reference schedule that has taken place, Mr. Fallis, I think, indicated that Hydro One had first filed terms of reference in August 2007.  That is, indeed, the case; that we had provided a set of terms of reference to the Ministry of the Environment in August 2007 and that, thereafter, there was a comment process afforded to interested parties and the Ministry staff and that resulted in a further and amended terms of reference being provided and distributed in December, December 21st, 2007.  There was a subsequent comment process on that set of amended terms of reference, and that comment period on that revised or amended terms of reference was completed on February 4th, amended terms of reference was completed on February 4th, 2008.  And we then made final modifications or amendments to the terms of reference based on the comments that we received in that second commentary period or process with the Ministry of Environment on February 13th, 2008.


So getting to the question of what's the best evidence of what -- how much time it's going to take for the Ministry of Environment to make a decision on the terms of reference, we are, as you would expect, in the hands of the Ministry.  We filed the amended terms of reference and we are awaiting their decision.  But what I would point you to, Madam Chaplin, is the Code of Practice of the Ministry of Environment, entitled:  Preparing and reviewing terms of reference for Environmental Assessments in Ontario.  It is dated June, 2007.  On page 37, in the margin, it states:  

"Following the filing of an amended terms of reference, the Minister is given seven weeks to make a decision."


And that seven-week window or period of time is what we have understood to be what is generally expected to be the time to have a decision in respect of the amended terms of reference. 


Now, this is a guideline document.  There are overrides that allow the Ministry and the Minister discretion to effectively waive that time, but we would assume as a code of practice the Ministry is trying to abide by that time window.  So when we apply that time window to the February 13th, 2008 date, we're anticipating an approved terms of reference to be available prior to the May 1 start-up of the Board's hearing, oral hearing process.


So going back, again, to the Issues Day and the Motions Day determinations where the Board raised this concern about ensuring the processes were in step, we, again, don't see ourselves in any different position of anticipating the amended terms of reference or the terms of reference to be approved prior to the start-up of the oral portion of the hearing.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Just finally, Mr. Nettleton, the amended terms of reference that were submitted on December 21st, am I correct that those incorporated sort of Hydro One's responses to the comments they had received on the initial terms of reference?  And also incorporated these potential route refinements that also form part of the amended application before us?


MR. NETTLETON:  I am being instructed by my client that it wasn't -- all of it was not included in the December 21st.  Some of it was included in the December 21st filing, and then the remainder was included in the February 13th, 2008 filing.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.


MR. NETTLETON:  I think that the point is that the February 13th filing took into account additional comments that were received on the December 21st filing.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Just on that point.  Do the seven weeks incorporate the additional comment period?  Is that inclusive in that?


MR. NETTLETON:  It is from the date of the filing to the Ministry of the document, of the amended terms of reference.  So we believe that runs from the February 13th date.  There isn't another comment period.


MR. QUESNELLE:  There isn't another comment period after?


MR. NETTLETON:  Correct.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Even though, in February 13th, you put additional information, you know, on the refinements?


MR. NETTLETON:  I guess two points.  One is, it was very minor, in terms of what was said.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. NETTLETON:  Again, it was intended to address the comments that had been received, and I think that was the intent.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thanks.  Understood.  Thank you.


MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. Chaplin, is that ...


MS. CHAPLIN:  Oh, yes, thank you.


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.


Let me then turn to the specific issues that my friends have raised, and let me first turn to Mr. Ross' suggested additions.


Concerning addition 1 that is found on page 2 of his letter under the heading of "Project Need and Justification."


Again, this issue, in our respectful submission, has no relationship to the amended -- amendment application that has been made.  What we are concerned with is whether the proposed language, in fact, abrogates what the Board has stated as being the purpose of the issues list, namely the scope of the proceeding, and addressing questions which the Board must answer.  The question that Mr. Ross has added here adds nothing to these points, in our respectful submission.  Issue 1.3 considers already appropriate risk factors.  What there seems to be is, firstly, a play on the words of adjusting 1.3 to change, "Have all appropriate risk factors" to now read, "Can all appropriate risk factors be included."  Then also the adder of the environmental assessment timing, which then takes us back, again, to the -- to my earlier submissions on and the Board's earlier rulings on whether, in fact, we are indeed out of step.  In our respectful submissions, we are not.  There is, again, no evidence before the Board to suggest the approved terms of reference will not be issued before May 1.


With respect to the first addition, the proposed addition 1 under project alternatives, again in our respectful submission, issue 2.1, which reads, "Have all reasonable alternatives to the project been identified and considered," addresses, in a broad manner, the concerns that Mr. Ross has expressed to you today.  The proposed issue addition is, again, not related in any way to Hydro One's amendment application.  The question that is sought to be raised and added, again, adds nothing to the Board's stated purposes of the issues list and, again, inclusion of the EA timing matter takes us back, if you will, to the future.


I would suggest that with respect to addition 2, the same reasons that I have cited for the last two are applicable, but here, issue 2.6 of the issues list, namely, "Are the project's rate impacts and costs reasonable for the transmission line, the station modifications, and the operating, maintenance and administration requirements?", is broad enough to deal with the substantive issues, and the only thing that is being added is this change in this variation of the language of "Can it be determined," and this idea of relevance of adding language that will, ultimately, in my respectful submission, Madam Chair, if you accept Mr. Ross' position, will ultimately require your record to necessarily include evidence of the EA process, including in order for that issue to be explored, and every other issue that is intended to expressly refer to the environmental assessment process.


Now, Mr. Ross made some longer submissions with respect to the next topic, which is near-term and interim measures.


There seems to be some view Mr. Ross is taking that near-term and interim measures must, by Hydro One, be considered as an alternative, and that the way near-term and interim measures has been framed in the issues list is that it precludes parties, including his clients, from taking the position that near-term and interim measures are an alternative to the project.


We submit that if Mr. Ross seeks to characterize near-term and interim measures as an alternative, he may do so under Issue 2.1, as stated, namely:

"Have all reasonable alternatives to the project been identified and considered?"


If Mr. Ross wants to explore with Hydro One whether near-term and interim measures are a reasonable alternative and, if not, why not, again, we would see nothing precluding him from taking that position with respect to the way in which Issue 2.1 is framed.


But, again, and to be clear, the proposed addition that Mr. Ross is seeking has nothing to do with the amendment application that Hydro One has filed.  There is, indeed, it seems, some need by Mr. Ross to reargue Issues Day's matters.


The Board determined Issue 4.3 was also intended, if we look at 4.3, "Have all appropriate project risk factors" -- sorry, I am moving on -- sorry, I am moving on to reliability and quality.  Let me just finish with near-term and interim measures.


I think my point is, simply, if he wants to consider near-term and interim measures as an alternative, there is nothing precluding him from doing so, but having all of the proposed additions that he is suggesting cited under the heading and guise of "near-term and interim measures" is redundant, if he wants it to be framed as an alternative.


Hydro One certainly doesn't take the position that near-term and interim measures are the project, or is the project -- is an acceptable alternative to the need for the project and will be no doubt answering questions to that effect through the interrogatory process.


But having the near-term and interim measures portrayed and further issues identified in the way that he is seeking puts more emphasis on something that is not Hydro One's project.  Near-term and interim measures are not something that -- as you have indicated, Madam Chair, something that Hydro One needs approval for from this Board.


These really are mitigation actions that are not uncommon, and to put them and cast them in a light greater than what they really are, we submit, is not appropriate in these circumstances.


Let me now move on to reliability and quality of electricity service.  The proposed addition, as I indicated previously, Madam Chair:  It is difficult to see the relationship between what's being proposed and, again, the application amendments that Hydro One has filed on November 30th, 2007 giving rise to Procedural Order No. 4.


As I indicated, there does seem to be an attempt to reargue matters that were considered during the Issues Day process.  In particular, you will recall that Issue 4.3, as is stated, was the subject matter of a contested issue debate.  The Board determined Issue 4.3 was intended to be stated in a general context.  That was the Board's decision.


Now, Mr. Ross can argue that the manner in which Hydro One has taken into consideration project risk factors pertaining to system reliability and quality of electricity service is not appropriate because specific evaluation criteria weightings have not been used, but that, again - and going back to your purposes of an issues list - is a matter for argument.


There is nothing in the issues list that precludes Mr. Ross from forming his argument, from, you know, effectively looking at this question that he has raised and putting it in the context of argument, but that is a completely different matter than one related to framing the scope of this proceeding.


We have been there.  We have done that.  We have had the debate.  The Board's made its decision.  There is no basis, in my respectful submission, for us to be revisiting that here.


With respect to Mr. Ross' submissions respecting land matter additions, I, quite frankly, had no idea what Mr. Ross was looking for here as it relates to the previous decisions that the Board has made and why this issue now is coming to fruition.


If it is simply identification of lands affected by the route that -- and asking questions about temporary and personal easement interest rights, again, I would not see how those specific questions about land requirements would be precluded by the issues list that is currently before the Board.


Now, that said, I mean, 5.2 does speak to the status and process of Hydro One's acquisition of permanent and temporary land rights required for the project.  I would have thought that that issue would have been broad enough to enquire into the nature of the permanent easement interests and the working space or the temporary working space that Hydro One would have required.


But there, again, seems to be a linkage or an attempt to link this back to the environmental assessment process, and that presumes that the processes are not in sync, which, as I have indicated before, we submit they are and they continue to be.  And there is nothing on the face of this record to suggest otherwise.


With respect to the last item "conditions of approval", until this morning I didn't understand what "status review mechanism" meant, but thanks to Mr. Ross' comments, I think what he has articulated to you is a mechanism by which fulfilment of conditions that may or may not be imposed by the Board are, in fact, considered and reviewed or demonstrated by the Board.  As it relates to what we currently have as an issue, namely issue 7 of the issues list, "If leave to construct is approved, what conditions, if any, should be attached to the Board's order?",  I would submit, Madam Chair, that that issue is so broad that it would allow Mr. Ross -- and any other party -- to make submissions regarding the appropriateness of what he has framed as a status review mechanism.  If he thinks that a status review mechanism is a condition that should be attached to any Board order and feels compelled to do so on reasonable grounds, and can demonstrate that to your satisfaction, we don't see the issues list as precluding that type of argument.  But that, again, is a matter of argument and, indeed, evidence.  And there doesn't seem to be anything in the issues list that would preclude a party such as Mr. Ross from making those submissions, certainly not from the issues list that currently has been approved by the Board.


Let me turn to the items that my friend, Mr. Sperduti, has raised as issues.


With respect to the proposed adder to the project need and justification issues, it strikes us again, Madam Chair, that the question is worded really as one that relates to an argument that Mr. Sperduti is intending to make on behalf of his client.


Again, that is what the Board articulated as not being the proper subject matter of an issues list; that there, indeed, will be sub-issues that there will be matters of argument that are debated and discussed through the oral hearing process and that the more important element of an issues list is ensuring that the scope of the hearing is one broad enough to capture the issues that the Board must make determinations upon.


That goes back to section 96.  That goes to price reliability and quality of electricity service.  And, again, the current issues list properly refers to matters of rates, takes into account the impacts of rates of this process, and, indeed, of this project.  So there is nothing new that has been added that we see with respect to this issue.  It more relates to a question of mootness, of whether we are going down a path that is going to lead to costs that could otherwise be avoided if the EA process was first determined.


Madam Chair, you will recall that we had that debate.  And the Board came out, clearly, and indicated that it is appropriate to move concurrently down the paths of EA, OEB as best possible to ensure efficiencies of processes related to both the OEB and the EA process.


And there is nothing that would suggest there is going to be mootness.  In fact, as I indicated to Ms. Chaplin, we are expecting an EA terms of reference approval decision and we continue to expect that and have good reason to believe that that is going to happen in advance of the commencement of the oral portion of this hearing.


Again, to not sound like a broken record, but I will; that matter does not have anything to do with the application amendment that Hydro One has filed.  The matter of mootness and the matter of filing route alternative studies an indication that route alternative studies are being carried out was, again, intended to ensure that the processes were, in fact, in sync.  That what we are saying before the EA process is consistent with what we're telling this regulator.


With respect to project alternatives, Madam Chair, this perhaps is the only issue that we can find that, in fact, does relate to the amended application, because there is expressed reference and clarification from Mr. Sperduti that he has framed this issue particularly taking into account the route refinement studies that were the subject matter of the application amendment.


The question then becomes whether or not this issue is needed and whether this issue is attempting to alter the issues in a reasonable manner that have already been determined to be acceptable and prudent.  What this issue attempts to do, it seems, is use terms like "best", that best achieves the goal of delivering reliable and quality electricity, electrical service at the best possible price.


You will recall, Madam Chair, that we had this debate in the Issues Day proceeding about whether it was incumbent upon Hydro One to demonstrate a superior alternative, that its project was a superior alternative, or whether, as the Board ultimately found, whether the project was a better alternative than those that were under consideration.


It strikes me that in the construct of what we are doing with the detailed route refinement alternatives, that nothing should change, that nothing in the framework that we have set out through the Issues Day process needs to be altered.  That Mr. Sperduti has every opportunity to ask questions about the evidence that is now placed before the Board about the route refinement options, and to make arguments about whether any one of those route refinement options is a better alternative to the ultimate route that Hydro One determines to be that which it intends to use for the project.


So in my respectful submission, Madam Chair, this issue about consideration of the route refinement options is something that can be appropriately considered under the issues list framework, and no further amendments are required.


I would, again, direct your attention to issue list number 2.5, which again says:  Is the proposal a better project than the reasonable alternatives?


Finally, Madam Chair, we turn to the proposed amendment to conditions of approval.  Again, this takes us back to the future and back to the substance of the debate that happened in Motions Day, happened in Issues Day relating to the idea and notion of whether it would be appropriate for any order of this day to be conditioned opinion an EA approval.


Quickly, the issues list condition 7 is broad enough to allow my friend and others to make whatever submissions they seek in respect of reasonable terms that this Board should adopt in respect of the application that's before it.  We don't think, in our respectful submission, it is appropriate to have detailed issues such as the ones my friend proposes form the subject matter of the issues list.


I have some brief comments with respect to Mr. Pappas.  Perhaps -- I am in your hands, Madam Chair, if you want to take the break now or if you would like me to proceed.


MS. NOWINA:  If your comments are brief.  Why don't we have your comments on Mr. Pappas and then we will take a break.


MR. NETTLETON:  Sure.  Much of what Mr. Pappas' submissions relate to, in our respectful submission, concern matters that I have already discussed and I will attempt not to repeat them here.  But I would simply ask that you consider my submissions in that context and in light of Mr. Pappas' proposed additions.


The additions, as we see it, Madam Chair, that are being proposed, again, are wholly unrelated to the application amendments.  The additions are inconsistent with the Board's Issues Day decision respecting purpose, respecting the contested issues that were considered, and nothing has been raised, in our respectful submission, that would justify the Board now considering those matters in this process.


Mr. Pappas' issues list additions, in large measure, are already consistent with the issues list.  In fact, what he has done is effectively admitted as much by proposing sub-issues to stated issues list.  Again, that was what the Board was guarding parties to -- or dissuade parties from proceeding down that path during Issues Day. 


Indeed, though, as I indicated, many of the questions that Mr. Pappas has raised we would fully expect to be questions that he should be pursuing through the interrogatory process.  Again, I make the -- as an example, Mr. Pappas has raised questions about standards, and specifically raising specific standards as being issues for him.


We agree that those matters are appropriate, are relevant questions that should be pursued, but not as an issues list matter, but, rather, in the context of interrogatories and, indeed, if necessary, through cross-examination.


It strikes us, Madam Chair, that it may be of some assistance for Mr. Pappas if we made ourselves available, with the assistance of Board Staff counsel, to assist Mr. Pappas with any questions that he may have about the Board's process to ensure that there is a common understanding about the interrogatory process, about the cross-examination process, and we would be happy to make ourselves available for that purpose, should Mr. Pappas be so inclined.  But that may be resolve some of the issues that we have considered here today.


One of the things that we are a little concerned about with respect to Mr. Pappas' submissions were concerns about Hydro One not having provided or being responsive to information that he sought during the technical conference.


We just wanted to ensure the Board understood that we had understood Mr. Pappas to be asking for information, that it only now has come to light that he is seeking other or additional information, that the information that we provided him didn't satisfy the original questions that he wanted and needs.


We weren't aware of that until Mr. Pappas wrote to the Board indicating that additional information was required.  If Mr. Pappas had suggested or thought about phoning us or talking to us in advance, that could clearly have been a matter that we could have helped him with and facilitated a better understanding of what he was asking for.


Having said that, we are pleased to work with Mr. Pappas off the record to help him get the information that he is seeking.  If we can't give him the information or if he doesn't want the information that we are providing, there is a process called the interrogatory process for him to seek that information in front of this Board and with the Board's oversight.  So we think that that information and issue is best one to deal with either off the record or through the IR process.


Those are our respectful submissions in respect of the issues, subject to any questions that the Panel may have.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.  Before we take a break, I would like an assessment of time for this part of today's proceedings.  So, Mr. Rattray, how long do you think you will take?


MR. RATTRAY:  Madam Chair, given that I stand between the Panel and a coffee break, I can be very brief.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Ross, you get the opportunity for reply.  How long do you think that might take you?


MR. ROSS:  Five minutes, maximum.


MS. NOWINA:  Maybe we can complete that, as well.  Mr. Pappas, yes, I would like you to think about, if there is anything Mr. Nettleton said that you want to, very briefly, respond to, you will have an opportunity to do that after Mr. Ross makes his reply.


MR. PAPPAS:  As a matter of fact, I have pretty well formed most of it.  It is only a couple of pieces of paper, so it should be really quick.


MS. NOWINA:  Okay, thank you.


MR. PAPPAS:  This is regarding the issues.


MS. NOWINA:  Just the issues, not the schedule, and just replying to what Mr. Nettleton said, not going back over the same ground that you have already been over.


MR. PAPPAS:  Unnecessary.  I think I made everything clear enough that I am just be responding to certain remarks.


MS. NOWINA:  That's right.  That's what your --


MR. PAPPAS:  For clarification.


MS. NOWINA:  That's what your role is at that point.  All right, thank you.  Mr. Rattray.

Submissions by Mr. Rattray:


MR. RATTRAY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  The IESO supports and adopts the submissions of Mr. Nettleton on behalf of Hydro One with respect to the issues list.  We share his view that Procedural Order No. 4 was not an invitation to embark on a review or a rehash of the arguments and submissions that were made by parties and intervenors at Issues Day last September.


What we have today is an attempt for the second time and, in some instances, the third time to revisit specific issues.  The reason I say the third time is that in the Board's decision on Issues Day, it noted that the Board had already, to some extent, addressed the issue in relation to the EA terms of reference in its decision and order on the motions dated July 4, 2007.


So, in some instances, we have already dealt with issues on two separate occasions, and now we are being asked to revisit them for the third time.


The IESO submits the scope of review of potential new additions to the issues list should be limited to an assessment of what changes or additions are appropriate in light of the minor amendments that have been brought forward by Hydro One on the application.  For the reasons that have been set out by Mr. Nettleton, I am not persuaded it is necessary to supplement the existing issues list in the manner that has been proposed.


In fact, I would suggest that to do so would be inconsistent with the Board's Rules of Practice and Procedure.  I always come back to it, but I think it is useful to remind ourselves that under Rule 2, the interpretation of the Rules of Procedure for the Board, 2.01:

"The Rules shall be liberally construed in the public interest to secure the most just, expeditious and efficient determination on the merits of every proceeding before the Board."


I think we all would be well served to bear that in mind as we raise what are procedural objections, given the Board's order last September where it indicated the general principles applicable to an issues list and that it would not seek to detail every potential aspect of the issues that will be before the Board and delve into sub-issues and matters of argument.


I think that the existing issues list serves us well, and we should get on with the merits of this hearing.


Those are my submissions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rattray.  Mr. Ross.

Further submissions by Mr. Ross:


MR. ROSS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Ross, try your mike again, please.


MR. ROSS:  How are we?


MR. QUESNELLE:  That's good, yes.


MR. ROSS:  It is interesting I would direct the Board to the exact same rule, but have a slightly different interpretation of it.  I note that the word "just" comes before expeditious and efficient, and by no means am I suggesting that to address the issues as we have on the issues list, in any way cause a major impairment to how we are able to expedite or how efficient we are able to conduct this process.  However, I note that "just" is first.


I would also suggest that procedural fairness and natural justice would demand that simply because an issue has been discussed, if changes have occurred or parties have had an opportunity to further reflect on issues and reflect on the posture in this particular instance of the proponent with regards to how they address issues, that if changes are necessitated by that analysis on the part of, in this instance the intervenors, they should be allowed to address those changes or those suggestions to the Board at any time.


Specifically - and I will just speak on behalf of Mr. Pappas for a moment, and if I am speaking out of turn he can just simply ask me to be quiet - he is assisting himself in this matter.  He does not have the benefit of any counsel.  He does not have the benefit of being able to discuss what may appear to be a sophisticated process with anyone, and he does, however, provide a great deal of insight both from a technical and procedural point of view, and should be allowed to forward that to the Board as he is able to do so.  I am sure he meant no disrespect or by no means is attempting to slow or decrease the efficiency of the process.


So again, referring to Rule 2.01, I don't think that it was ever intended to be looked at from the institutional perspective.  I think it is to be looked at from the perspective of the process itself, and that the interest of justice is paramount and the other two concerns, of speed and efficiency are seriously considered to be second.  Then it is liberally construed.  Here we are; we have had to change.  The issues list has been -- and I agree with my friend, the issues list was opened back up from the perspective of the alterations.  However, I don't think that that should automatically preclude -- there was no language that says, And by the way you can't talk about anything else.  It didn't say that.  So I would say to construe that liberally would allow us to make these submissions.


Really, any prejudice that these additions, if accepted, are going to be made -- are going to make, excuse me, can only be determined once we finish our discussion about timelines. 


A lot of what I had hoped to do by raising the issues has been completed simply by my friend, Mr. Nettleton's acknowledgement of the scope of the issues, as he perceives them.  Mr. Nettleton -– and I am easily confused individual, being from a small town and not being really sophisticated like the big city lawyers -- but I see Mr. Nettleton using "scope" in two directions: "scope" as in "to narrow", and "scope" as in "to allow for a broad discussion".  And that's where my confusion has really been raised and why I have drafted the issues as I drafted them.  However, today, and on the record, Mr. Nettleton has almost each and every time suggested that the existing issues list allows for the conversations contemplated by each of the additions suggested to take place in IRs and in the hearing.


That leaves me with only one final concern.  Each time we get to a stage of this process where we ask some questions and we want some more information, we are deferred by the proponent.  Well, that is not for this time.  We understood this process to be this.  So you can ask that a little later on.  And you can ask that -- this may be appropriate for IRs and if not, maybe for cross-examination.  My concern is that we will end up at the hearing and the definition of "scope" at that point from the proponent will be going on only one direction and it will be very narrow and all of a sudden, as I have expressed my concerns throughout this process, the burden will be on the intervenors, not on the proponent, to discuss the project, the appropriateness of the project.


I just don't think that that's -- that should be allowed, and that's really what raised the issue of additions that are outside of the scope of the new amended application, from our client's perspective.  


Barring any questions, those are my submissions.


Oh, sorry.  I apologize.  One more thing.  With regards to the timeline of the EA and the OEB process, not being out of sync.  My friend suggested there is no evidence, no demonstrable evidence the TOR won't be approved.  Well there is no evidence that they will.  We've got recommendations that they must be reviewed and a decision made within seven weeks.  It doesn't say it must be reviewed and approved within seven weeks.  And so far we have seen them returned several times and subsequent submissions being made on each amendment.  Because there has been no officially scheduled timeline for submissions on the subsequent amendment doesn't mean they won't be forthcoming, I can assure you.  If people have problems with the final amendment as HONI describes it, they're going to write a letter to the MOE and they're going to tell them what those problems are, and the MOE, because it's a procedurally fair body and because it is an administrative body is going to look at those suggestions, and if there is genuine concerns raised they are going to turn it back to HONI for yet another amendment.


So in fact, we have no evidence, no demonstrable evidence that the EA TOR will be approved prior to the oral hearing.  Mr. Nettleton himself said, Look, it is in the hands of the Ministry.  And he is absolutely right.  So it is up to them.  We have no evidence that it's going to be ready.


And that puts it out of step with this process, and that is something that the Board contemplated and addressed and that's why we're raising these issues now, because we are in a different position.  It contemplated it.  It addressed it.  It said it can't be out of step.  Well, now we are out of step so we have got to be live to that.  And we have got to address that in the issues if -- or, or - my friend probably won't like to hear this - put off the leave-to-construct oral hearing for a long time until we are absolutely positive that we are in step. 


I am suggesting hopefully we can do -- we can meet both people's agendas.  They want to keep it moving.  We want all of the information to be available.  Let's meet in the middle somewhere.


Those are my submissions, barring any questions.  Thank you.


MR. SPERDUTI:  Madam Chair, if you would allow me, I wanted to have an opportunity to respond very, very quickly before you turn it over to Mr. Pappas.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Sperduti, I hadn't planned to -- I thought Mr. Ross would cover the points for most of you and Mr. Pappas had other issues, so unless it is really different than what Mr. Ross has just given us, then I would prefer to just keep moving.  Is it really different, Mr. Sperduti?


MR. SPERDUTI:  It's different enough in the sense it relates to the issued that I raised and which Mr. Nettleton responded to, so I just wanted to respond to that.


MS. NOWINA:  Very briefly.

Further submissions by Mr. Sperduti:

MR. SPERDUTI:  I will be very, very quick.  The first response I have with respect to Mr. Nettleton's overarching concern, that refinements to the EA process were submitted to the Ministry of the Environment, et cetera, et cetera.  I don't want the Board to be under any misapprehension.  The refinements that the proponent has delivered to the MOE don't capture all of the comments that others have made to the Ministry of the Environment.  Specifically, some people have said to the Ministry of the Environment, there is another way of delivering the power altogether.  You don't need this project.  So that is an option which MOE has before it.  It is not like the very narrow option which the proponent has put to the MOE.  It is either this route, or these two refinements.  Okay.  There is a much broader consideration going on at MOE now.  That's the first thing.  


With respect to the issue number 1 that I raised, Mr. Nettleton has pointed out that it is a rehashing of an old issue.  This issue is intended to capture an assessment of risks and costs.  The risks and costs are real now, because that process, the EA process, has not matured in the way that we may have expected it to mature previously when the issues list was set.


With respect to the second issue I raised of the alternative routes proposed in the application, and then I continue:  Mr. Nettleton's response was to point us to issues under 2.0 in the issues list.  My response to that is, the issue that I am seeking to add here deals with the routes proposed in their application.  The project alternatives issues, which are list in the Board's order, did not contemplate any refinements in the very proposal that HONI was putting forward.  So this issue is limited and it is new, because it requires the Board to look at those issues or those routes proposed in their application.  


Then finally, is it appropriate to make an order granting leave conditional upon approval of an EA.  Mr. Nettleton pointed us to the conditions of approval and suggested that, again, the issue there is broad enough to capture my concern.  But the concern that I have is that the issues list as it is now framed presupposes that approval can be granted, conditional upon EA approval.  What I am seeking to raise is:  Is the Board's -- Is it appropriate at all to make the Board's approval conditional upon EA?  So perhaps what we should have done was taken this issue and put it, number 1, before project justification.  Those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Sperduti.  Mr. Pappas.

Further submissions by Mr. Pappas:


MR. PAPPAS:  I will make this very short.


Respectfully, Mr. Nettleton appears to be attempting to determine a role of compliance for the OEB.  I noted that Mr. Nettleton's submission was liberally peppered with the phrase "the Board must."


Mr. Nettleton appears to be ignoring both the OEB Act and the Transmission Code regarding the powers and latitude of the OEB.  The OEB can make decisions, determinations and alterations of these at any time.  To suggest that the Board must comply with any determinations and decisions or their details is to ignore the set role, responsibility and right of the OEB to alter any decision they may have already made in the course of the process; nor must they comply with any perceived understanding of the applicant or any of the intervenors.


Respectfully, it is not appropriate for Mr. Nettleton, nor any of us, to suggest such a thing.  We cannot dictate procedure or detail to the Board.  Mr. Nettleton has made contentions regarding the revisiting of the Issues Day.  He claims that the Board has already decided on this, and, therefore, presumes to suggest that the Board must comply.


The Board does not have to do any such thing.  The Board has the power to introduce any alterations which they deem advisable and appropriate, regardless of the wishes of the applicant or intervenors.  The fact is that questions regarding the OEB Act or Transmission Code are, in fact, matters of the issues list and not of the interrogatories.


The issues list is a compliance list for the applicant's project.  They have to meet the issues in order to determine whether their project is worthy or not.  That is the whole point of the issues list, as I understand it, if in fact they weren't in compliance with the SIA and CIA report of the IESO, that's end of it.  In the issues list, there is that particular one.  I will choose that, because that came before me, if, of course, it is reasonable.  So are all of the issues.


As far as his perception about, Well, that's already been done, well, that's just invalid.  The Board can add on to any such thing they want.  They can change the dates.  They can add another process in the process, if they so wish.


Now, I am pretty sure that my understanding regarding the OEB on what I have just said is fairly accurate.


MR. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Pappas.  That completes the submissions on the issues list.  We will take our lunch break now and return at 1 o'clock.


--- Recess taken at 11:40 a.m.

--- On resuming at 1:00 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


This afternoon we are going to be discussing the schedule for this proceeding, and Mr. Klippenstein, I believe you are up first.

SUBMISSIONS ON HEARING SCHEDULE
Submissions by Mr. Klippenstein:

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Madam Chair, Members Of the Panel, I will be hopefully merely summarizing some of the points in the correspondence that Pollution Probe delivered earlier, which consists of, I guess originally, a motion record in June of 2007, although you don't need to have that before you.  Then a letter, October 22nd, 2007, and another letter February 13th, 2008.  If you have those before you, it may be a little bit helpful.


What Pollution Probe has done after some consideration is express some concerns about the present schedule and made some suggestions which hopefully may be practical and workable.  The useful starting point is a concern that kind of really focussed things, in our minds, arising from the procedural order most recently, Procedural Order No. 4, which includes an appendix D, which you don't need to refer to, but consisting of a table that summarizes the various dates.  When we looked at that, we noticed that the interrogatory responses from Hydro One for intervenor purposes were due on March 25th.  Then intervenor evidence was due on March 31st.  It struck us that that was only six days apart, and I think that the schedule no doubt comes as a result of juggling many, many different things and also it might be quite suitable for other hearings, such as rate hearings, but it struck us that in this particular situation, given the complexity of the issues and the role of expert witnesses for us as intervenors, that was a little bit, in fact a very short time.


Nowadays, to say something is extreme is usually a compliment, but that struck us as extreme and not in a good way.  That we would get a lot of information from Hydro One on the March 31st deadline then our expert witnesses on or witness in particular on transmission would have to do a lot of technical work and analysis and thinking and perhaps some alternative proposing and then finish a final report and deliver it in six days kind of struck us as a big, big problem.


We also thought that there were some other improvements that could arise with respect to the timetable.  Then the overarching idea that occurred to us was that the role of the parallel environmental assessment process in the final analysis means that the Board, in my submission, can allow a certain time extension of the schedule without prejudice, or without any real harm to the application or the applicant.  Other parties have talked about the role of the EA process.  I think I have a different point.  I am not talking about them being in step or something like that.  I mean, I don't disagree with that necessarily, but the key point, from my submission, is that, given that the applicant requires both your approval and the environmental assessment approval separately, your approval without the environmental assessment doesn't do them any good by itself.  And if the environmental assessment process anyway will take a certain period, you can extend the timetable a bit and potentially make it or have it make no difference, because the EA timeline may still extend beyond that.


Ms. Chaplin, you asked a number of times about the EA schedule, and my friend, Mr. Nettleton, gave you some of the answer.  I have summarized that.  We have summarized that on the top of page 2 of the February 13th letter from Mr. Alexander of our office, where I notice there is a typo error where a September 2008 should read "2007."  I won't take the time to go through all of those details, but as Mr. Nettleton said, there have been several iterations of timelines for the EA, and to take his final or present dates, if the present proposal for the terms of reference went in on the 13th and using his estimate - which he and, I think, I would suggest is not necessarily solid - of seven weeks for approval estimate, that brings us to, I think, around mid-April.


Now, in each of the estimates that Hydro One has tabled, I think there is two, or maybe three, or two, they have given a one-year time estimate from the approval of the terms of reference to the anticipated environmental approval.  So they have used that as their time frame through several different amendment scenarios.  So if I take that figure and what Mr. Nettleton mentioned, one year from mid-April of 2008 would be mid-April of 2009.  Now, obviously that is subject to all sorts of uncertainties, but that's roughly their estimate, which would mean that, in my submission, even if you took Pollution Probe's suggestions on the timetable as we have put them forward, then by any reasonable measure you would still have adequate time to complete the hearing before that EA estimate.  So the bottom line would be, there would be no downside from that point of view.


Now, that's just saying to you there is no downside if you take up some of Pollution Probe's suggestions, but there is also some positive reasons why I think you should do that, and I guess I am saying there is positive reasons on one side of the balance, and not much negative on the other.  You don't have to – well, later, I will be making some comments about the approach Hydro One took in providing answers at the technical conference.  You don't have to accept any criticism explicit or implicit in what I say or make a finding on that, because you can say, for whatever practical reasons, this timetable is fine and there is no harm done.  So you don't have to -- if I want to blame Hydro One for something, you don't have to agree with me and you can still adopt our timetable.


On page 3 of Pollution Probe's February 13th, 2008 letter, I set out or we set out some proposed extensions and additions.  We have tried to be focussed and practical so you can see exactly what we're suggesting.  And those entries mirror quite closely the table in the Procedural Order.


The total is approximately two months of an extension, all told.  Now, we say there in the letter that that's not to suggest that if my friends from the landowners think that for their clients' purposes they have further extensions, I don't oppose that.  It may well be a good thing.  But from Pollution Probe's point of view, that's what we're suggesting for your consideration.


One of the main reasons or package of reasons we are suggesting a little bit of extra time in those various stages or steps is that Pollution Probe and the other intervenors are very dependent on some facts and technical information from Hydro One and we have not been able to get it.  We suggest, in our letter, that Hydro One chose to take an approach at the technical conference that was rather narrow and limited and that, as a result, there was a lot of missed opportunities for information for the intervenors from the technical conference, and that has shifted a large burden to the interrogatory process.


Now, I won't say that I am explicitly criticizing my friend, Mr. Nettleton, or Hydro One for their approach at the technical conference.  I will be a little more coy about the implicit meaning of my words, but the approach at the technical conference was that I think Mr. Nettleton took the approach that they would answer questions that were related to the prefiled evidence.


Then he drew a distinction between that and other issues which were on the issues list, but were not in the prefiled evidence, and, generally speaking, declined to answer questions that may be related to an issue on the issues list, but did not relate to their evidence.


Now, that is something that we took some pains to detail in our letters, especially the letter of October 22, 2007.  I won't go through it in detail, but there is a contrast between what Mr. Sperduti says at one point and Mr. Nettleton at another point, on page 3 of that letter near the bottom.  The transcripts of the technical conference have Mr. Sperduti saying:

"As far as I understand it, this process is intended to deal with the issues."


Then if you turn the page to page 4, near the top, Mr. Nettleton's position is:

"The purpose of that read-in, Mr. Sperduti, is that it is the prefiled evidence that we're here to speak to, not additional questions that relate to matters outside that prefiled evidence."


So Mr. Sperduti focuses on the issues.  Mr. Nettleton focussed on the evidence.  That means there is a category of questions which Pollution Probe and others thought were legitimate, which Hydro One chose not to respond to.


I invite and encourage you, if this is of use to you, to read those transcript excerpts in that letter, and I note that, for example, on the bottom of page 6, we have identified many, many, many occasions in the transcripts where these types of exchanges occurred.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Klippenstein, has Pollution Probe filed any questions formally with Hydro One?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.  We were hoping that there would be a productive informal technical conference where a lot of the information could be dealt with upfront, to the extent possible, and I think one of the procedural orders, prior to the technical conference suggests something like that.


So Pollution Probe on October 1, 2007 - I think you may have it before you.  It's at tab 2, I think, in the materials - in two separate batches, Pollution Probe delivered 51 detailed, very carefully prepared questions, and many of them have sub-questions.  So there is a great deal of information that we requested for technical purposes in those carefully worded questions - we put a lot of work into it - which was delivered before the technical conference in the hope that a significant amount of that could be answered either directly at the conference, or - and this is another concern Pollution Probe has - by means of undertakings given at the conference.


That's a very common procedure, where people in informal discussion on technical matters will say, I don't know that.  Now I understand what you want.  Can you undertake to produce that?  Yes, I will.


Now, as I understand it, the approach taken by Hydro One was basically that they didn't give undertakings at the technical conference.  And regrettably, from Pollution Probe's point of view, I think that further cut down the usefulness of the conference and the ability of the conference to shift a whole lot of information exchange forward into the process.


So those 51 questions which were delivered before the technical conference, a few were answered; most were not.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Your perspective is you weren't really required to refile them as interrogatories.  Your perception is that they remain questions on the record that you are properly seeking answers to?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.  But we will file them as interrogatories, yes.


MS. CHAPLIN:  But you haven't yet.  But you could have at any time, I guess, since the technical conference, but have not done so?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Right.  We haven't done so yet.  I can whack a covering letter on it and call it interrogatories, but my, you know -- and I think in one of Mr. Nettleton's responses, he says, Well, why don't you just send the questions?


Well, they're here if we want to -- you know, if it is just a covering letter and a label, I will do it, but I thought it was a little bit obvious these were important to us.  If he said, as he has, that, Why doesn't Pollution Probe send them to us?  Well, here they are.  We have been asking for months.


I don't think -- you know, I would be happy to get the answers tomorrow.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I would have -- that is what I would have thought and expected and hoped for, and --


MS. CHAPLIN:  I guess I am trying to understand your relative expectations, which I think are -- you can correct me if I am wrong.  You had put the questions on the record.  They took the position they did.  You believed them to still be on the record and would have welcomed any response, whereas perhaps Hydro One's perception is that they are more appropriately refiled as interrogatories.


I am just trying to understand the relative perspectives.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  That's correct from our point of view.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And, yes, we would just love to have the answers.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And the other problem is that there are likely to be further questions that arise from these answers, when and if we receive them, and one of the advantages of the technical conferences is that they allow a face-to-face, immediate, you know, correction cycle and conversation about focussing questions.


That can be hugely dragged out if it has to be done in paper cycles, and, unfortunately, I think that there will be some -- a second follow-up of interrogatories that are required, I suspect, when we get the answers, which is unfortunate.


There were problems with the technical conference, in that Hydro One presented two panels, which were apparently mutually exclusive, and because they were seemingly unwilling to give reasonable undertakings, at least from Pollution Probe's point of view, there were issues and questions that fell in the cracks.  And that can happen when you compartmentalize witnesses or technical people.


As a result, Pollution Probe was unable to ask significant economic questions about the project and the alternatives, and we think that is unfortunate.


That's ultimately Hydro One's procedural choice, which they, I guess, are entitled to make, but Pollution Probe is now saying that there are consequences, from our point of view, and the consequence is that we foresee difficulties in getting the answers, and especially because of the technical nature of some of the information, we will have difficulty, great difficulty, having our expert witness, Mr. Lanzalotta, prepare a report that is genuinely identifying of key issues in a clear and thoroughly analytical way.


Now -- and he is very dependent on some of those answers.  He is very dependent on questions and answers related to computer models.  And in the technical conference we -- Mr. Lanzalotta was there, and he came up from the United States for that and asked about the possibility of Hydro One running their models, their computer runs with different assumptions that he would supply, and the answer was neither yes nor no, but deal with that in the interrogatory process.


And I gather from Mr. Lanzalotta that running a model can take several days, and if you are doing it for a couple of scenarios, it can involve a fair bit of time.  Mr. Lanzalotta has other commitments during some of these scheduled periods.  He has predetermined hard dates to appear before the Pennsylvania Utilities Commission, whatever the technical name is, and I believe in Illinois. He has evidence to file there right around these dates.  I am not sure if there is any hard conflict in that he is supposed to be in two places on the same day, but still there is an enormous crunch there.  In my submission, that is unfortunate and makes it very, very difficult to prepare the kind of information which would really be helpful to the Board in a serious matter such as this.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Klippenstein, let me put a hypothetical case to you and maybe this is extremely imaginative.  But if you were able to put a letter on your questions and forward them to Hydro One as interrogatories immediately, and Hydro One, having had these for months, could respond immediately, so you had the responses, say, a week from today, would that allow you to maintain the schedule that we have in Procedural Order No. 4?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I don't know.  Two problems occur with that.  One is -- I wished that would happen.  I wish that would have happened.  Let me be clear about that, I wish that would have happened.


MS. NOWINA:  Going forward.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  It wouldn't solve the problems for the other intervenors.  I think it would be too little too late, now, because I know the other intervenors went through the same thing.  They can address this themselves.  So it would essentially be moving the interrogatory process up, generally.  I don't see how they could do that just for Pollution Probe and not for the others.  It wouldn't be fair.  So I see a lot of technical problems in terms of general -- and also, one of the other points we mention here is that we are suggesting that the Board schedule a Motions Day, at this time, because however optimistic one might be, there are almost inevitably likely to be some issues coming out of these various interrogatories that require the Board's attention.  And scheduling a motions day now, rather than in an ad hoc way afterwards, I think actually would shorten and speed the process.


So having a motions day, I think, is necessary and connecting to your question, Madam Chair, that would need to be done anyway, I think, in my submission.


So would it be a good thing to get those answers?  Absolutely.  Would it solve the overall issue?  I don't see how.  I think the Board, if I may respectfully suggest, could suggest to Hydro One today to make best efforts to answer those questions as soon as possible.  I think that would be useful.


Pollution Probe has also suggested the possibility of scheduling now a second motions date for the benefit of Hydro One to clarify any requests it has made to the intervenors which are disputed.  Now, that may not be as necessary as the first motions day that I am suggesting, but I put that out there.  Again, I have to sadly say, I think I'm fairly sure Pollution Probe or one of the other intervenors will be coming before you to ask for a motions day, and it's quicker to schedule it now, and if it is not needed, it can be cancelled.


So the benefit, in summary, of the schedule we suggest is that it would do three things:  It would allow the Board to render decisions regarding disputed interrogatories; secondly, it would allow time for Hydro One to provide full and adequate interrogatory responses; and thirdly, it would allow time for intervenor experts to review the interrogatory responses and prepare their evidence, including necessary modelling efforts.


The end result in the suggestion we have is, it would add about two months before the hearing start time and, again, given their projections from Hydro One about when the EA decision of approval would be accepted, if there is one, I think the Energy Board would finish its process well before that expected environmental assessment decision.  Those are my submissions, subject to any questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Madam Chair, if I may.  I have a previously scheduled conference call with respect to an Ontario Bar Association panel, and it was apparently unable to be scheduled any time other than 2 o'clock today so I may ask for your indulgence for a brief absence, if I may, at that time.


MS. NOWINA:  It is up to you, Mr. Klippenstein.  I was going to give you an opportunity to reply, so you may want to try to work around that, if you wish to reply.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Who else would like to make submissions supporting a change to the schedule?  We will go down the line.  Mr. Ross.  No.


Mr. Sperduti, sorry, we will come back to you.


MR. SPERDUTI:  I am happy to let Mr. Ross take the lead on this one, Madam Chair.  I will do clean up, maybe.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.

Submissions by Mr. Ross:

MR. ROSS:  Thank you, Madam Chair, Members of the Board.  I obviously support and adopt my friend's submissions.  I think that he makes cogent and compelling arguments for an extension the timeline.  I think specifically, his submissions with regards to the fact that typical timelines for something like a rate application would not be appropriate for this project, given the size and sophistication of the project.  I think, also, although he was probably far more diplomatic than I would be, one of the reasons we're in this situation is due to the almost total lack of disclosure provided by the proponent with regards to any technical data, despite having it available to them and obviously relying upon it in order to determine their project and alternatives to the project.  None of that has been forthcoming, and again, despite questions being provided in advance of the technical conference, they just simply weren't addressed.  They were ignored.


Now we're in a situation, as my friend points out, that if we were to put a different cover letter on it, it somehow makes it a different animal.  Subject to response, with that in mind, I would ask the Board to make an order that the proponent treats all questions submitted in advance of the technical conference as interrogatories, and that those answers be provided as soon as possible.  Obviously they will take some time, I would imagine, to answer those questions.  I believe there were hundreds of them, in fact, in advance.


I support the request for a change in the timeline and again on the same grounds, that there is very little prejudice to the proponent in light of the fact that the ground will not be broken until the completion of the EA process and, as such, that window of opportunity to complete this process in a less oppressive and unrealistically speedy manner -- I say unrealistically from my intervenor’s perspective; others may be able to handle it a little better.


I will move to a bit of a sob story, and I will be as quick as I can.  Finding an independent expert in Ontario who can deal at a high level with an appropriate CV with these issues, who isn't in a conflict with the industry, or doesn't want to work for the industry in the future, has been -- has proven impossible, despite contacting all of the major universities that have professional engineering courses and boards, then going into private consulting firms, and then finally finding myself in Florida, where I just recently was able to retain an expert who has got the level of sophistication necessary to comment on the project.


Again, he finds himself in a very similar situation as my friend's expert, in that he is booked on another project until the end of February.  He has only been able to give a cursory glance to the information provided, which although reasonably limited, will open up a world of questions for him that I wouldn't even be able to comprehend, let alone articulate without his assistance.


For that reason, we would respectfully request that the time line for the original submission of interrogatories is extended, pushed forward.  I am reasonably confident that the time line for response is unrealistic unless we want to guarantee a very long motions day or days to deal with responses to the interrogatory questions posed.


What I mean by that is I am assuming - and from the brief discussions I had with my expert and with my friends from Pollution Probe - the questions posed are going to be of a sophisticated technical nature.  They will require detailed analysis and the provision of detailed disclosure from the proponent.  That will take some time for them to get it together, if they were to do it properly, and in hopes of avoiding an extended motions period, they should be allowed a reasonable amount of time to respond.  And the time that's suggested would be more along a three-week period for response.  So that the times that I have so far are March 30th for the intervenors' interrogatories, to provide the intervenors' interrogatories, and then, at the earliest, April 14th for a response.


At that time, we would suggest that a motions day would be appropriate, and it would hopefully be able to cover two things.  The first thing would be any outstanding IR responses that we require clarification or want to make demands for that we haven't been provided.


The second thing would be, if the terms of reference are not approved and are still outstanding, because is about the seven-week period from their last filing, we would have the opportunity to discuss that in light of the Board's concern about the two processes being out of step.  So it would be two-fold in that motions day.


Then, and I take my lead from my friend again, a second interrogatory process may very well be necessary, because I think that the first one, unfortunately, due to lack of disclosure, is going to be mainly information-gathering.  We will need to take a look at the data upon which they base their assumptions, make our own analysis, and subsequent questions will undoubtedly be asked.


I believe they're better asked in an interrogatory process than in cross-examination at the hearing, simply because it will take forever at a hearing, and they won't have the opportunity to have all of their information in front of them with the same ability to look it over, to think it out and provide cogent and complete answers.


That second interrogatory process would begin on the 15th of June and be completed with response on the 30th of June.  Again, that may not be enough time for my friend, the proponents.  I will leave that to them.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Just to make sure I hear your proposal, the first round of interrogatories would be answered on April 14th?


MR. ROSS:  Correct.


MS. CHAPLIN:  You're foreseeing that, then, as a result of a motions day, there would be further material?  I am wondering the reason for the two months between the April 14th and the June 15th.


MR. ROSS:  April 30th would be my suggestion of a motions day; allow them to complete.  Then, if the motions are successful, let's say, for the intervenors' perspective, if they're successful, allow Hydro One to complete their productions based on those motions.


Then allow the experts to review them on a very quick turnaround time, still, realistically, and supply second sets of interrogatory questions now that they've got disclosure, which, in my respectful submission, should have been provided with the package that we received at the beginning of this process.


I was going to hesitate being dramatic, but I can't help it.  We have got a project that spans 180 kilometres and $650 million, and this is the disclosure we have received to justify it, a third of which is maps.  It just doesn't make any sense to me that that is what we're all to rely upon and that is all that has been forthcoming and we're in a position where we have had to hire experts or go on a fishing expedition to get disclosure that should have been forthcoming.  And, as a result, in my respectful submission, it has necessitated the request for the extension of this time line.


So I return now to the response date of the second interrogatories for the intervenors on the 30th of June.  At that time, our experts will require time to prepare their reports, to do their analysis and modelling.  There is only one modeller, and that is Pollution Probe's expert.  I have been in conversations with Mr. Alexander in order to reduce duplication and requested that we may be able to provide them some of our information, join forces for modelling.  That may take some time.


August 15th for the intervenor evidence to be filed, allowing the expert reports the time necessary to be produced.  August 30th for the interrogatories to the intervenors, and the 15th for the response of September -- excuse me, for the response.  October 1st -- and this one I agree with my friend probably won't be as necessary, a motions day in case they don't get production from -- the proponent doesn't get the necessary production from the intervenors, with the hearing to commence October 15th.  Still within the time before ground can be broken due to the EA process approval.


It allows for a fulsome review of what is, I am certain, voluminous technical data that needs to be looked at.  It cannot be relied upon as gospel without the intervenors having the opportunity to review it and provide their own opinion and, potentially, as we have been placed in the position to do, suggest alternatives.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Ross, you raised the concept of working with Pollution Probe to share their witness or their modelling capabilities.  It is probably an appropriate time for me to mention, as you both talk about expert witnesses and the work that is going into expert witnesses, that when we have a number of expert witnesses, it isn't just the schedule that is affected, but it is also the costs.


And Mr. Klippenstein is familiar with our cost awards and our cost proceedings.  We urge you to work together as much as possible and to have no duplication.  We would have difficulty awarding costs if there was a great deal of duplication in a proceeding like this.  Again, I think if you're working with Mr. Klippenstein, he knows the rules and you can make sure that you adhere to them.


But I do think it is an appropriate time to give you that caution.


MR. ROSS:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, do you want to go next?

Submissions by Mr. Fallis:


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.  Madam Chair, the process that we have been involved with initially was the package that Mr. Ross has referred to in that big binder, and the problem with the process is that the binder was tantalizing, but it didn't contain all of the information that was needed.


It needed -- because it is our position that our role as counsel is to make sure that you, as the Board, have all of the information before you to make sure that you can make a fair decision.  It isn't what Hydro wants to put before you or HONI wants to put before you.  It is what ought to be put before you, and that information pool grows as the time has gone on.


I went back and I read your filing requirements in transmission -- for transmission and distribution applications, which is put out by your Board on November 2006.  In particular, clause 5.3. is evidence in support of need.  I want to read one full paragraph to you that's in your Rules, and I think it will emphasize where I think the Board should be on this.  It says -- it's at the bottom of page 34 on your Rules.  It says:

"In some cases, the need for discretionary or non-discretionary project is driven by factors external to the applicant, such as the need to satisfy an IESO requirement or to serve an incremental customer load.  The factors driving the project must be identified, but the burden remains on the applicant to support the claim's need.  If the applicant identifies a customer or agency as a driver behind a project, it is the applicant's responsibility to include evidence from that customer or agency as part of the evidence on the application.  The Board expects the applicant to work with that external party in the development of the required evidence.  In many cases the external party will be the IESO and/or the OPA, although the additional evidentiary requirement would apply to any external party on whom the applicant has relied for the justification of the need of the project.  The evidence will likely consist of written material prepared by the customer or agency specifically addressing the proposed project, and the customer or agency must be prepared to provide witnesses to support the filed evidence if an oral hearing is held.  It is not sufficient for the applicant to state that the customer or agency has established the need for the project.  The Board must be able to test that assertion." (as read)


And it's for this reason, I suggest, that I think it is an opportunity for the Board to know some things that it hasn't yet probably got before it, and it's only something that we have learned in the past several weeks, is this:  There are presently two applications that have been made to the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission in Ottawa for the establishment of a nuclear generating facility.  One was filed by Bruce Power in December of 2006 and another was filed by Ontario Power Generation on April 12, 2007.  There are two competing applications that are out there, and I think that it is -- what is interesting about it is that the start of the process is a review that was done in -- I want to bring this out to your attention to explain the reasons that I am supporting the scheduling changes.


A document was put out by the IESO in August 15th, 2005, a report that analysed the need for a power -- extra transmission line in the -- running from the Bruce because of the bringing into force of units 1 and 2 at the Bruce which was on the table at the time that they wrote this report.  It was under discussion.


The IESO concluded in that report, and said, I am reading from page 27 of the report.  They talked about, there is a full paragraph, it says:

"The IESO has yet to perform its full assessment of the impact of the proposed 500 kV series capacitors coincident with Nanticoke GS, no longer operating, and with the additional 1500 megawatts of generating capacity that is planned to be procured for the western GTA and downtown Toronto in service.  
"However, a limited number of load flow studies with the additional generating capacity including at arbitrary occasions have been completed.  These have shown that the series capacitors together with the new shunt capacitor banks at Middleport Transformer Station, and with some of the units in Nanticoke converted to synchronous condenser operation should be sufficient to enhance the transfer capability of the existing transmission facilities to all units 1 and 2 at Bruce A generating station to be incorporated without the need for any new transmission lines."


That was the IESO's speaking on August 15th, 2005. 


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, you seem to be getting into the merits of the case.


MR. FALLIS:  No.  I am just saying that we have that statement made.  You have got an application that has been made by Bruce Power.  You've got a -- you have the application by the OPG which is in the GTA area, which is made in April.  You've got one filing only of the IESO in the report, which is done in March of 2007 before the OPG has made an application.


These are all factors, these are all drivers, these are all players in the process.  Their evidence is part of this application and it cannot be limited to what's in that document.


I am suggesting that the productions that are being sought are to enhance the evidentiary base, and that also from the point of view of the technical questions that have been asked, but as well the productions that have been sought will be sought by interrogatories are to complete the evidentiary base that you must have before you to make a full and complete decision.


And as Mr. Klippenstein read to you, the comments before, that HONI was suggesting that the limit of the questions have to focus on the prefiled evidence.  We're suggesting that the evidentiary base that you should consider is the, basically -- excuse me for a moment.


The evidentiary base is really the prefiled evidence and all of the procured evidence from the technical conference and from the interrogatories.  That's the base that has to be out there.  So this is the body of evidence that is needed to give to the experts to deal with, not just the prefiled evidence.


So it is absolutely critical that all of the evidence, not only the evidence that HONI has filed but the evidence from Bruce Power -- what's driving their request?  Are they getting, on the pretence of putting in one and two back into service, which were already -- were in service and taken out, they're getting a transmission line that will serve a generating station that they're going to build at Bruce sometime in the future.


MS. NOWINA:  I think we get the point, Mr. Fallis.


MR. FALLIS:  All I'm saying is those are the things that you must actually look at, because it is part of the evidentiary package.  I think these documents that have they have would support it.  So I think that those are questions that one might expect to be asked on the interrogatories because you are going to need that to make your ultimate decision.


So the problem is this, is that what has happened here is that the scheduling that is here really gets down to the way it is set up.  Between the 25th of March and the 31st of March is six days.  There is a weekend in between.  And that is the crucible for the respondents to generate a full response to the evidentiary package given -- the responses from Hydro -- or HONI, actually -- to the answers to interrogatory questions.  It is just -- you know you cannot expect any quality evidence that will be provided, or could be provided in that short period of time.  I mean, the whole case comes down to getting enough evidence to your experts so they can generate the questions back or the response back so that you can deal with it.


This whole case comes down to six days.  I don't think that you can justify the, you know, those time frames because it just isn't realistic.   Mr. Ross has canvassed with you the time that the expert -- that he has engaged for the purposes of the hearing and he needs time to be able to provide that evidence.  And I think that Mr. Klippenstein's witness would need the same amount of time.


I would indicate at the technical conference the questions that were sought by our group were in excess of 100 and they were all related to answers.  A lot of the other intervenors sought productions of documents.  They were -- only required answers.  They were answers dealing with load capacities of each of the five transmission lines.  There were specific questions on each of the lines.  Got none.  Not one answer to one of the questions was given by Hydro.  They have had them for four months.  Well, it is it maybe going on to five now and there is still no answers.  That's what all of the other intervenors suffered, exactly the same thing.


So we are being provided no information to give to experts to be able to deal with it, to be able to determine, is there a need for the line or is there not a need?  Is there sufficient existing capacity?  Is there a repair that can be made to the existing line?  All of those things that will show, demonstrate whether or not the existing line can or cannot take the additional load.  There is questions about wind power --


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, I appreciate.  I think you're becoming a bit repetitive, and I appreciate you being in such strong support of the submissions the others have made.


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.  Well, all I can indicate is -- two other things.  One is with respect to the scheduling of a motion, I agree with the dates suggested by Mr. Ross.  But I think that at the motion, that it would be very helpful that a representative of the Ministry of the Environment be invited to that motions day, to be able to discuss with you, so that your Board may understand how far in step or out of step both of you are so you can get a sense of timing as well.  I think that is a very important aspect because it is not like we're Russia the United States.  We're both operating in the same Ontario theatre with different responsibilities, but there is nothing to say that you couldn't meet the to talk about where everybody is in the scheduling and timing so that you could at least make sure you're in sync by having conversation or contact with them.  I think that could be done very openly in that forum.


As far as the other part of the interrogatories, I agree there will be probably a need for a second motions day after the completion of the interrogatories, because of the -- I mean, because of the fact that there may be outstanding issues that flow out of that as well.


So I adopt Mr. Ross's comments.  I certainly adopt Mr. Klippenstein's, except I think the timelines should be longer than he has suggested.  I think that it would be a pity if your Board were to make a decision in let's say in June and we sat for another nine months waiting for the Ontario Energy -- or the environmental assessment to make its decision, when perhaps we would have had a more fuller canvass of the facts with the benefit of a more -- better information based on which all of us can go forward to assist your Board in making a proper and fair decision as to whether this project is needed.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Sperduti.

Submissions by Mr. Sperduti:

MR. SPERDUTI:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  PowerLine also supports an extension of the time lines set out in Procedural Order No. 4, for the following reasons.


Hydro One controls all of the evidence.  This isn't litigation where Hydro One is going to rely on the intervenors to disclose evidence to it.  So they control all of the evidence, and without casting aspersions, Mr. Klippenstein's extracts from the transcript at the technical conference demonstrate that they intend to keep the cards close to their chest.  So requiring the intervenors to cope with disclosure of very technical evidence that is either less than full disclosure or last-minute disclosure, from the intervenors' perspective, and their expert's ability to cope with it, creates a significant prejudice and one that some might say would contravene the principles of natural justice that this Board's mandate is to uphold.


Against that risk is the fact that, as Mr. Klippenstein points out, there is no prejudice to Hydro One if this process is delayed, because even if the terms of reference are approved in seven weeks and nobody launches a judicial challenge to that approval, there is still going to be at least a year between the time the terms of reference are approved and the time the EA is completed, which, as Mr. Klippenstein properly submits, gives some latitude for this Board's process to unfold.


So extending the time lines avoids prejudice to the intervenors, causes no prejudice to HONI and ensures full disclosure and respect for natural justice.


Those are our submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Sperduti.  Mr. Pappas, did you want to make a few comments on scheduling?

Submissions by Mr. Pappas:


MR. PAPPAS:  Yes.  I wondered if I could ask, I have these, but does anybody have the first little bit, just a synopsis prior to this, because if I could read the synopsis, then I don't have to go into any...


MR. QUESNELLE:  Turn your microphone on first, Mr. Pappas.


MS. NOWINA:  Is this a document that --


MR. PAPPAS:  If I could read the synopsis, I quite shorten things quite a bit, because it is a condensed version of all of the --


MS. NOWINA:  Maybe Board Staff could help us identify the document we are talking about.


MR. PAPPAS:  Oh, thank you very much.  Okay, thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Pappas, which document is that, so the Panel can pull it out?


MR. PAPPAS:  It actually came with the other one.  It is a submission regarding applicant evidence and time line, but it's the synopsis that came just ahead of the evidence for the submission for...


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pappas, we do have it and we have read it and we will consider it, so you don't need to read it again.


MR. PAPPAS:  Oh, okay.  I just wanted to refer to it to shorten my submission, because it is all of this.  At any rate, at any rate --


MS. NOWINA:  You can be seated.


MR. PAPPAS:  Okay.  I feel it is absolutely necessary for all of the appropriate evidence to be supplied in the first place, and I don't have to go into detail on that.  I think it has been referred to many times.


Consequently, I believe that requires a revision of the schedule to accommodate that.  I also believe -- now, the HONI has said, Well, we can give you these studies in the interrogatories.  But then the simple fact is is that if we ask an interrogatory and we get the study, we don't get another interrogatory.


We can't ask about what should have been original evidence in the application.  We have to wait until the hearing, so that is not appropriate.  We should be able to be asking them questions based on all of the appropriate evidence in the interrogatories.


So we need to have this omitted evidence prior to any interrogatories, and the fact that the evidence was omitted even suggests that we have to do another technical conference, because it was HONI's assertion that anything that constituted a question to be given an interrogatory, they were not required to answer at the technical conference.


Well, the difficulty there was, that was not presided by the Board.  That was presided by the Staff members who, of course, have no authority to say, No, we want to hear that now, as opposed to the Board would have the authority.  So, therefore, HONI could do exactly -- do that exactly and not answer any questions, because nobody could make them answer those questions.


So, basically, to all extents and purposes, the technical conference was a wash, because I did have many questions answered, but a lot of the other people were simply told, No, that's an interrogatory, we're not answering.


Well, they said they would answer anything that was based on prefiled evidence.  Well, if they omitted evidence that should have been in the application, then we couldn't even know about it to ask appropriate questions at the technical conference, and if it's something that we can't get -- we have to ask for in the interrogatory, well, then, we'll get it, but we can't ask the questions in the interrogatory.  Well, that can't be right.


The evidence supporting this project should have been there from the beginning, and the ABB study itself is very important, because, basically, that's the basis for which they claim that their project is superior to all alternatives.  Well, we have no idea what was in the ABB study.


They also neglected another piece of evidence, which was the SIA report that preceded the one that is in their evidence, and that was SIA_Report_2005.200.pdf, which refers to the ABB study.  Now, had everything in that report been included in the final version that's presented in their evidence, then you wouldn't need that one.  But they didn't put the information from the previous SIA report.  The only one that even mentions the ABB study, it does not quote from the ABB study.  It does not give excerpts from the ABB study.  It does nothing but say what they decided based on the ABB study.  So we have no clue what the parameters of the study were that they set for them.


We have no clue at all about anything that was considered in that study, and yet they're saying that they did the study and that proved what their process -- their project is the best fit.  We can't even ask about it, because they haven't offered it.


As well, there's the matter of the due diligence, which they're still sitting on, the due diligence for the series capacitors.  Now, ABB did the study prior to 2005.  They had to have; otherwise, it wouldn't have been included in the document that was written in 2005.


Well, it seems to me that that is the point at which the OPA should have began their due diligence study, which would have been done by now.  What do we find out?  As of at least August, maybe even October, they still hadn't even begun the due diligence study on series capacitors.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pappas, you are getting a little bit into the merits.  The first part about the concern about the report is not in evidence and, therefore, the effect on schedule is appropriate and --


MR. PAPPAS:  Well, the last thing that I want to say directly about that is at the very end of our day 1 technical conference, Mr. McKay, a Board Staff member, asked some very, very relevant questions dealing with exactly that, and he even said at one point, Well, wait a minute, that's new evidence.


Well, as we have already seen, new evidence requires a new application.  So one of my questions regarding all of this, even without going into that, is that -- well, I will go through this quick and it covers most of it.


The ABB study is absolutely necessary for the intervenors to even begin to approach expert witnesses.  This cannot be appropriately undertaken after the interrogatories, especially with the short time period between the interrogatories and the oral hearing.


The following was said before, and I'm in entire support.  If OEB finds against the application as presented, then the application must change.  This then becomes a new application, therefore, a new application before the Board.  If immediacy is as necessary as the applicant, the counsel and the proponents claim, then why would they consider an approach that would lead to revisiting the very beginning of the application, possibly repeatedly?


The same argument applies to the approach to the environmental assessment.  They have had to revisit the terms of reference.  Simply, it is the applicant's adopted approach that can lead to such a prolonged ping-pong game that will ultimately unnecessarily result in the appropriate -- result in delaying the appropriate resolution of this issue.


From my own studies of the various manufacturers and suppliers of the alternate technology - all of them, all competitors - it is claimed that from the very beginning of the studies, through the manufacture and installation of that technology, will take no more than a year and a half.  ABB study was done in 2005.


I mean, my problem is that they're making a big issue of immediacy, but so far all I see is the reason that this is dragging on isn't from the intervenors.  Consider the ABB study:  If, in fact, it absolutely supports this issue, their project, well, if they wanted to save all of this time and all of our stupid questions, why not have it right there in the application to begin with and then there is nothing we can argue about it and then they can go ahead and do it.


MS. NOWINA:  I think we've gotten your point, Mr. Pappas.  You have been very clear.  Do you have any

others --


MR. PAPPAS:  I am taking a quick look here.  I think that basically covers it.  As you know – well, there is just a little bit.  As you know I supplied, well not so much for the Board, because I am quite sure you are familiar with the stuff in here but for the other applicants and for HONI, important excerpts from the various OBB information as well as some other documents.  One thing I included, for example, was a practice direction on confidential filings.  The reason I put that in is because as far as I can see, the only last possible argument against offering this information in the first place would be a claim that it's confidential.  However, I don't believe it is so.  So that's out the window.  That's why I included the things in there.


MS. NOWINA:  I think you're getting a little bit away from the point of the scheduling, Mr. Pappas.  So if you can wrap up your comments.


MR. PAPPAS:  Thank you.  Back to the scheduling.  The points and all of the information in here suggests, to me anyway, that the scheduling must be changed – well, okay, I will put it this way.


The oral hearing, how long do we want them?  If other things can be resolved earlier, then the oral hearings will be shorter.  So whatever HONI feels we may lose in time at this point by revisiting some of these issues that weren't appropriately dealt with and no fault of the Board's, then perhaps it will save us a whole lot of time at the hearings, which will also save costs.  You mentioned the experts witnesses and that.  Well, if we can understand what we even have to talk to expert witnesses about, before the interrogatories or anything else, then we are better -- we are better set for the oral hearing which nobody wants to go on forever.


There is -- the last thing that I will mention that I am sure the Board is fully aware of, I don't know if my colleagues or HONI is.  And that is that the Board itself has the option to bring in expert witnesses on anything that they are not sure they fully understand and it's in the legislation and in the Code.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.


MR. PAPPAS:  I guess --


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Pappas.


MR. PAPPAS:  -- I’ll leave it at that.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Nettleton, I don't think it is a big leap for me to say I don't think these folks are happy with you.

Submissions by Mr. Nettleton:

MR. NETTLETON:  As you know, Madam Chair, I am one for thinking of movies and bringing movie themes and quotations from movies.  My friend Mr. Skalski reminded me I have already used material from "Cool Hand Luke" about, there seems to be a miscommunication here.  I have a teenage daughter, and I am learning that teenaged daughters these days still listen to - at least mine does - Brittney Spears and the song, “Piece of me” suddenly comes to mind here.  But I digress.


Madam Chair and Panel Members, it strikes me that perhaps the best way to start with my friends' comments is not so much to focus on what I thought was going to be a discussion focussed around the availability of Pollution Probe's experts for purposes of the schedule that you set out, but rather what I think now is a bit of a Trojan horse of bringing forward the proposal of a nine-week delay to the hearing that you have set down on the basis of Hydro One's conduct at the technical conference and that this process now seems to be focussed around bringing to your attention Hydro One's alleged bad conduct, and indeed my bad conduct in attendance at the technical conference.


I think, in light of the fact that my friends have at least implicitly made those suggestions to you, I feel compelled that we need to address that.  So with your indulgence, I will.


I think the starting point really goes back to the Motions Day, and it's the motion, if you will recall, that Pollution Probe raised with you in June 12th, where Pollution Probe requested, by way of motion, that the schedule include a technical conference.  In paragraph 8 of that technical conference, in paragraph 8 of that submission, of that motion, Pollution Probe states, and I quote:

"Pollution Probe submit that a technical conference would be beneficial and is necessary given the nature of the issues in this proceeding.  In particular, it would allow the intervenors to ask questions and seek clarifications about the evidence of Hydro One Networks Inc. in a face-to-face forum, thus permitting the intervenors to better understand Hydro One Networks' application.  This better understanding will, in turn, allow the intervenors to produce fewer and more precise subsequent interrogatories to Hydro One Networks Inc., regarding its evidence.  In addition, the intervenors will also be able to produce evidence that is of a higher quality and more focussed on the truly contentious issues."


Hydro One supported that motion, if you will recall.  We did so on a conditional basis, and that condition had everything to do with ensuring that the scope of the technical conference was one that was taken into account, and that the technical conference could be carried out in a reasonable and timely manner.  Those two findings were addressed in your Motions Day decision to that effect.  


What then precipitated was Procedural Order No. 3.  In Procedural Order No. 3, you will recall paragraph 5 which set down the technical conference.  And in that paragraph, your order that a technical conference, and I quote: 

"A technical conference involving Board Staff, intervenors and Hydro One will be convened in the Board's north hearing room located on the 25th floor, 2300 Yonge Street, Toronto, on Monday, October 15th, 2007, at 9:30 a.m. and may continue on Tuesday October 16th, if needed.  At this conference, Hydro One will provide an overview of its prefiled evidence and there will be an opportunity for questions by intervenors and Board Staff.  Those parties that wish to provide written questions to Hydro One in advance of the technical conference shall submit their questions to Hydro One with copies of (sic) the Board and all intervenors by Monday, October 1, 2007.  Note that parties are not required to prefile their questions.  The technical conference will be transcribed."  


So we had intervenors were requested to, if they wanted to, file questions about our prefiled evidence on October 1 and we, then, had effectively two weeks to examine those questions and to prepare our presentations that we were making at that technical conference, which were very much intended to focus on the areas of questions that the parties had raised.  And that's exactly what Hydro One, the OPA and the IESO did.


There was a presentation, a two-day presentation, with attendees from each of those organizations to address questions and provide an overview of its prefiled evidence.  We had never understood Pollution Probe's motion at the outset to, in any way, be represented to you or for the Board to establish a technical conference that was intended to effectively be a voir dire, a hearing within a hearing, an opportunity for parties to effectively cross-examine our witnesses, require written interrogatories to be asked in advance, and for us to be effectively there in front of Board Staff to address those written interrogatories in a formal context.


What we understood was found on the face of Procedural Order 3, paragraph 5, and that was that if parties wanted to, they could ask questions.  The intent of those questions, we understood, was intended for us to have a flavour of what we would be expected to address, as best we could, in respect of the prefiled evidence.


Now, it is the case, Madam Chair and Panel Members, that we received over 250 multi-part questions on Monday, October 1st.  I wrote to the Board to that effect on October 10th explaining that fact.  In that letter, I clearly articulated that, and I quote from the bottom of page 1 of the letter:

"The advance questions process established by Procedural Order No. 3 dated July 11th, 2007 resulted in Hydro One receiving in excess of 250 multi-part questions from parties.  Many of these take the form of interrogatories, in that they request information in addition to that which Hydro One has included in its application, i.e., its prefiled evidence.  An expectation by some appears to be that Hydro One will, or at least should, respond to all questions either before or at the technical conference or, in any event, provide responses via undertakings in advance of the interrogatory process that is prescribed in Procedural Order No. 3.  Hydro One is not expecting the conduct of the technical conference to require it to address each and every question that has been posed to date.  Such an approach is not consistent with Hydro One's understanding of the purpose of the technical conference, which is to provide a forum in which technical issues regarding Hydro One's application can be discussed informally and to better assist parties in gaining an understanding of the application materials.  Never was the technical conference process characterized as a preliminary oral interrogatory process."


In my respectful submissions, Hydro One stands by that position.  The result, though, has been that there have been these questions outstanding.  We have fully understood that by the submissions that were made at the technical conference that there was indeed an intention, a desire, for Hydro One to address its mind to these questions.


We understood that, and we indicated that those and other questions that they had would likely take the form of interrogatories and should be properly asked as interrogatories and could be asked as interrogatories.  We made that position clear.  I made that position clear at the technical conference.


The result, though, has been that the parties to this proceeding have not done that, for whatever reason.  Since October 15th and 16th, 2007, the parties have not decided to take their questions and actually put the questions on the face of the record in this proceeding.  They have not been filed as interrogatories in this proceeding.  They have been filed as questions pursuant to Procedural Order No. 3, as questions respecting a technical conference, a conference which Board members were not party to.


That said, Madam Chair, there is nothing preventing the parties, particularly now that there is a Procedural Order No. 4 outstanding, which sets down deadlines for parties to have those questions asked of Hydro One, and they could be asked of Hydro One today.


Hydro One has had an opportunity to look at those questions.  We have put our mind to it, at least.  I am not sure if we're in a position to say tomorrow we could answer them, but I know that we have at least addressed our minds to them and have thought about them.  Some time is going to be required to answer the questions that we consider to be relevant, and fair enough.


There may be some questions in the 250 multi-part questions that Hydro One actually considers to not be relevant.  We may have that debate.  And if that's Mr. Ross' idea behind scheduling a motions day, I mean, I can't say with certainty that we are actually going to have that debate.  We don't know.  It really depends on what they decide to ask us as interrogatories.  As interrogatories.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Nettleton, the issue that has come up in the other submissions is that there may very well be a need for a second round of interrogatories after they receive the answers, the responses to these.  Our schedule and procedure in Procedural Order No. 4 does not allow for that.


MR. NETTLETON:  Right.


MS. NOWINA:  What is Hydro One's view on the requirement for that and whether or not we can still make this schedule with their concerns?


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, in my respectful submission, if the interrogatories that they wish to ask are known today, and particularly Mr. Klippenstein's IRs that are asked that he believes to be so, so important in order for his experts to produce expert evidence, if those are asked today, there may well be an opportunity for us to produce answers to those interrogatories well in advance of the deadline that the Board has already set down for parties to file interrogatories.


In other words, there may already be an opportunity to file additional IRs once we have had the opportunity to see what the first round of IRs would be.  But the closer we move that process out, the longer that the intervenors wish to take to file their interrogatories, the harder it becomes for us to say that we're up against our deadline.


So I think -- I wish I could say to you that Hydro One is prepared to have a second round of IRs.  We don't know that.  Until we see what the interrogatories are, until we understand clearly what level of work effort is required, until we see whether or not the parties accept the answers that we provide to the interrogatories, it is very difficult for us, at least at this stage, to say that a second round of IRs is needed or appropriate.


Is that helpful?


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, it is.  Thank you.


MR. NETTLETON:  So in my respectful submissions, Madam Chair, I really think that this idea that Hydro One has acted badly or behaved badly or their counsel has acted inappropriately by suggesting that the technical conference should be narrow in scope, or that the technical conference did not meet the original purposes or did not meet the purposes that the intervenors sought, is not relevant, at all, to the question that is before you now of whether or not the schedule, which the Board has set down, is reasonable in light of the application that is before you.


Now, in terms of the application that is before you, please recall that the application has been filed since March 29th, 2007.  There will have been well over 15 months of time between when the application was first filed and when the oral portion of the hearing commences.


One would think that that is more than sufficient time for parties to at least begin to think about what expert evidence, what their case is intended to be, and how they intend to present their evidence and their case and positions.


It is, with all due respect to my friend, Mr. Ross, not the applicant's job to make the intervenors' case.  Our job is to present to you and to advocate to you that the application before you, the project that we have applied for, is just and reasonable.


If Mr. Ross or Mr. Fallis or Mr. Sperduti or Mr. Pappas seek to provide you with a better alternative, an alternative that is better than the one which the proponent has made in its case and has applied for, they're absolutely entitled to do that.  But that is a matter for the intervenors to raise in their own evidence.  That is not a matter which the applicant is obliged to make.  


My friend, Mr. Klippenstein used, in the language of his letter, the term "slightly varied schedule," and my response to you, as you know, was to effectively put that in quotations and effectively take issue with that.  The reality is that what Mr. Klippenstein is seeking is over a nine-week delay, a nine-week delay to have this hearing commence in the midst of the summer months.  


Mr. Klippenstein's associate, Mr. Alexander, took issue with the fact that I suggested that this may not be necessarily a better time to convene a public hearing that deals with local landowner concerns, that is to say in the middle of the summer.  My intention of saying that was not so much due to the potential issues caused to those landowners who are represented before you, especially today, but rather the unrepresented landowner.  And believe me, Madam Chair, in my home province, I have seen this play out, particularly with 500 kV lines.  It's not a good time, at least in my respectful submission, for the scheduling of public hearings to allow and to facilitate the input of the public in proceedings that take place in the middle of the summer.  Quite the opposite.  The timing is one that should take into account those concerns.  The fact is is that when you have issued your Procedural Order No. 4, there haven't been any unrepresented landowners who have come forward to say, I have a concern with that.  And that's a pretty strong message, in my respectful submission.


The nine-week delay is now being predicated upon the need for a motions day, in my respectful submission, a motions day to consider the potential for the need for better and more fulsome answers to information requests.  Madam Chair, Panel Members, I see no reason why it would be more efficient, more effective to schedule that now in the process than to be able to do so if and when the matter is required, i.e., on an ad hoc basis.  I just fail to see how there is any efficiencies achieved in taking that step.


Alternatively, what I think it does do, it leaves the impression that my friends all seem to wish to make, and that is that Hydro One is -- has acted badly in the past and is going to act badly in the future, and therefore, scheduling a motions day is, in some way intended to school Hydro One to ensure that their answers are full and complete.  Well, if that's the intent, Madam Chair, I think that is anomalous.  I don't think there is any merit to that argument at all.  Let's way to see what the interrogatories are.  Let's give Hydro One the opportunity to answer those questions.  Hydro One does take its regulatory responsibilities and oversight extremely seriously.  It's not in the business to be less than fulsome with its responses.  It understands the process more than anyone.  It's intending to ensure that its application is approved.  It can only have an application that is approved if the evidence before you is the best evidence.


So as it relates to the motions day, Madam Chair, I see no benefit in scheduling a motions day process at this stage.  Let's wait and see, is my respectful submission, the watch words.


But as it relates to the scheduling of IRs and the scheduling of responses to IRs, what I have heard from my colleagues that are sitting beside me is:  If the questions can come into us earlier, we have then more time to get the answers out, as you would expect.  And if they come over, they come into us over a longer period of time, i.e., that they don't all come in our lap on the filing deadline, we're going to have more time and ability to be responsive to the questions and do so in a more timely manner.  


So as much as I would like to say that the blame should be cast at Hydro One, I think, in all seriousness, Madam Chair, if the parties have interrogatories that they wish to file, if they have been drafted, if they are satisfied with those interrogatories, if they think that the interrogatories that they have filed during the technical conference need not be amended -- which of course is what Mr. Klippenstein, in fact, said in his correspondence to you, is that there may be requirements or revisions as a result of the technical conference, which in my respectful submission suggests that, well, then the technical conference had merit -- that they actually took something away from it and now they're reacting to it by drafting a revised number interrogatories, in any event, if they have interrogatories, ask them.  We can be responsive sooner if we have them in our hands and we know what the questions are.  But until that happens, our hands are tied.  


Mr. Klippenstein indicated that the one-year estimate has been made by Hydro One to undertake an EA exercise, that is to say, the conduct of its environmental assessment.  What Mr. Klippenstein has failed to take into account is that Hydro One's efforts in carrying out the EA exercise is going on today.  Hydro One is carrying out activities.  The Board well knows this.  We have sought early access approval to the lands, to lands that we believe are going to be affected by this.  We are carrying out survey work.  That is all being done in the context of both the land requirements that we require in respect of the project, as well as the environmental assessment, the surveying activities that we need to carry out.  It's not simply a case that the one-year period starts and stops.  It's the case that there is a continuum where activities are happening in step.  They're happening contiguously.  So I don't see and I certainly do not wish you to think that the EA exercise is one that's going to take place and only be completed one year from the date that the terms of reference are approved.  We are, as you know, taking activities today to minimize that time period.  


Mr. Klippenstein made reference to some suggestions that Hydro One has been asked to run models.  That's news to us.  Again, if the question is is that we are going to be asked to run models as part of an interrogatory question, let's deal with that when the time comes.  But until we actually can see what the interrogatory is, it's premature to have a debate.  But to be clear, we have not yet received any request in the form of an interrogatory to conduct model runs.  It is just not the case. 


MS. NOWINA:  Excuse me, Mr. Nettleton.  But are you aware of the requests, through the requests at the technical conference?  


MR. NETTLETON:  Can I have a moment?  


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Skalski has indicated to me that the request that was made was to provide the results of load flow studies.  That question was one that I would use as an example, where it was the form of an interrogatory.  There seems to be a gap in understanding the difference between questions, questions relating to a technical conference to facilitate a better understanding of prefiled evidence, and what an interrogatory is, an information request.  An information request, in my respectful submission, is intended to adduce further evidence.  It's discovery.  It is intended to produce more information.  We never saw the technical conference as being a forum in which there would be an obligation on Hydro One's part to produce more information than what had been filed as its prefiled application.


MS. NOWINA:  Just so you understand our questions, Mr. Nettleton.  We understand the difference between the questions for the technical conference and what your objectives were there compared to interrogatories, and your responsibilities.


What we are trying to ascertain is whether or not it is possible to get all of this work done for an oral hearing the way we have scheduled it.  So if Hydro One, by having the benefit of having these questions for some time no matter how you defined them, if there has been work going on so that they can be answered quite readily once we start this process, or if it's all completely new to you, that would make a difference in our assessment of whether or not this schedule is possible, or not.


MR. NETTLETON:  Can I have a moment?  Madam Chair, what we have been discussing is reasonable time lines to complete the responses.  I am loathe to provide you with an absolute certain drop-dead date.  That was never our intent of coming here today, to address that question, but what my friends Mr. Skalski and Mr. Schneider have indicated is that they believe that they would be in a position to answer certainly a great majority of the questions by March 10th, which is the start date of the interrogatory process.


Now, there could very well be some interrogatories that are -- require more time, more effort, that may very well run into what would otherwise be the interrogatory response period.  But we are confident that the interrogatories, all of the interrogatories, will be responded to by the proposed deadline in the Board's agenda, in the Board's schedule.


But, again, a lot of that depends on the assumption of, Are we in fact going to see the questions that we have been asked in the technical conference, or, as it is within their right, of intervenors, are they in fact going to be modifying those questions, changing the construct of them, asking for additional information?  We don't know.


MS. NOWINA:  I understand.  Thank you.


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Klippenstein made reference to Mr. Lanzalotta's busy schedule.  I am going to let Mr. Rattray address that point about Mr. Lanzalotta's schedule.  I think he can -- we have had a discussion off line, and I think he is probably in as good a position as I am to suggest that, quite frankly, Mr. Lanzalotta's schedule should not, in any way, trump the process, your process, into this application.


Yes, Hydro One will be accommodating to try and find ways to address the heavy schedules and busy schedules of experts, but the fact is that Mr. Lanzalotta has had the opportunity, since March 2007, to consider the application, to consider the evidence.  He was an active participant in the technical conference.  He asked questions of the parties in the technical conference.


I think if we can see the IRs and get them to Mr. Lanzalotta, the current schedule should be more than sufficient to address any expert evidence that he intends to file.


Mr. Ross, surprisingly, I think, has indicated to you that Mr. Klippenstein's request is not reasonable that the hearing should start on July 7th, but, rather, a far more reasonable approach would be to delay it even further.


It strikes me that what may be an underlying motive here is to have your schedule be such that would result in the EA process happening first, because, quite frankly, that seems to be one of the potential results of what he is suggesting, is that everything gets delayed; we have the procedural evidentiary pre-hearing steps take place before the oral portion of the hearing commences.


In my respectful submission, that is just utter nonsense.  That cannot be the case.  This is an application that has been before you since March 29th, 2007, and to suggest that the oral portion of the hearing would not commence before October 15th, 2008 is beyond the pale.


One of the themes that both Mr. Ross and Mr. Fallis and Mr. Pappas seem to have raised is the suggestion that the application, as filed, is in some way deficient and that only now is the application one -- the deficiency of the application is one that the Board should act on.  Only now, before the IR process is even commenced, and only now, after some almost ten months, eleven months since the application was first filed.


The simple response is, again, no.  The Board has issued four procedural orders.  In my respectful submission, it wouldn't have issued one procedural order had it found that the application is so deficient as to not warrant further consideration by this Board.


This application is right.  This application needs to proceed to the next -- the evidentiary portion of the hearing, and any suggestion that the application is now deficient and should be stayed or adjourned until further filings is, quite frankly, inappropriate.


Mr. Sperduti briefly suggested that Hydro One controls all of the evidence and that Hydro One's cards will be kept close to their chest, the disclosure of technical evidence will be, in effect, limited, and that they are basing all of that on, again, Hydro One's behaviour in the technical conference.


Not to sound like, again, a broken record, but I think I have addressed that point.  We have seen a clear distinction in the purposes that were intended for the technical conference and what we see to be the evidentiary portion and the discovery portion that is to come vis-à-vis the interrogatory process.


Hydro One doesn't control all of the evidence, Madam Chair.  If intervenors are seeking to put alternative theories forward, it they are wanting to suggest that there is a better alternative, as the issues list suggests, is ripe and appropriate for consideration in this proceeding, they're entitled to adduce that evidence, put it forward and have it tested in this proceeding.


But to suggest that Hydro One is the only party here that is going to be filing evidence and has control over that evidence is simply wrong.


A suggestion that delay of the OEB proceeding would not have any prejudicial effect to Hydro One if it were to be delayed until either July or, I guess, October, depending on which view you take, is, again, not reflective of the realities.


Hydro One is not expecting to be sitting idly by when and after this Board considers the application that is before it, any decision that is taken, and, if so, any resulting environmental assessment approval.


What Hydro One is likely to be faced with is a dilemma, a dilemma relating to how to order and procure long lead items.  The procurement and ordering of such long lead items is a matter that Hydro One is having to consider, and an approval of this Board that the project has applied for is in the public interest is, in some way, going to assist it in making determinations of whether procurement activities, at least to some degree, should be carried out.


So it is simply wrong to suggest that early consideration of this application - and I say early relative to the proposals that you have received today - is not going to be prejudicial to Hydro, in my respectful submission it is.  Hydro One should be afforded the opportunity to carry out its business, look after the transmission needs of this province by having regulatory approvals considered or regulatory applications considered in a timely manner and we believe your schedule does that, as set out in Procedural Order No. 4.


Mr. Pappas indicated a clear misunderstanding of interrogatories and the purpose of cross-examination.  The purpose of cross-examination, of course, is to test the evidence.  Interrogatories are intended to have evidence put before the record.  I will say nothing more than that.


Mr. Pappas also suggested to you that during the technical conference the Board Staff were, in some way, responsible for the non-answers provided by Hydro One staff -- or sorry, by Hydro One witnesses and OPA witnesses.  If I understood Mr. Pappas correctly, and I hope I didn't, but if that was in fact his point, in my respectful submission, that was not the intent.  Staff were very clear to us during the technical conference, that this was intended to be a collaborative effort, an effort that was established amongst the parties to the proceeding, the applicant and Board Staff in attendance, to try and help and have a discussion about a better understanding of the prefiled evidence.  The fact that Hydro One decided not to answer the written interrogatory responses had nothing to do with Staff's position in this.  That was a decision taken by Hydro One and Hydro One alone.


Subject to any other comments or questions, Madam Chair, my submission is that the schedule as proposed in Procedural Order No. 4 should remain.  It is an aggressive, challenging schedule by Hydro One is up to the challenge.  We think that if there is need for additional time, instead of looking out, we can look in.  We can look towards making more efficient the interrogatory process by having interrogatories filed sooner.  The process leading up to this stage included a technical conference.  It allowed parties to become familiar with the evidence.  The parties have formulated questions.  If they intend to have those questions stated as interrogatories, file them and we will get on with the job of responding to them.  Those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.  No questions.  Mr. Rattray.

Submissions by Mr. Rattray:


MR. RATTRAY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  The IESO adopts and supports the submissions of Mr. Nettleton and we oppose the requested extension to the timetable established by Procedural Order No. 4.


From our perspective, the question really is:  How does the Board exercise the discretion that you clearly have to balance what are competing procedural interests?  Balance them so that you can achieve a fair, transparent, but timely and cost-effective determination on the merits?  And various intervenors and, in particular, Pollution Probe through their written submissions, have suggested that the timetable established by Procedural Order No. 4 fails to achieve that appropriate balance and failed to consider the nature and history of the proceedings.


Now, Mr. Nettleton has taken you through some of that history, and Pollution Probe sets it out in some detail in their written submissions of February 13th when they recall that in their motion in June, they requested and supported a significant extension to the timetable then being contemplated, requesting it so that they could undertake a more detailed review and obtain a better contribution from their proposed expert witness.


Now, at that time the IESO, you will recall, and a number of other parties took a different view.  I won't take you to those submissions, but I commend them to you, the submissions of Hydro One, APPrO, the OPA, the PWU and the IESO, in terms of supporting the proposition that there are, in fact, consequences to delays in the approvals process.  Our objective here should not be to go for the lowest common or slowest common denominator in terms of regulatory approvals.  If, as has been suggested, the EA process is delayed to some extent - which is hypothetical and it has not been established and Mr. Nettleton has addressed that point - that should not become the standard to which this Board should direct itself.


Now, one submission in particular in June that caught my eye when I was reviewing it in preparation for today was a submission of my friend, Mr. Stephenson.  It was to the effect that there's strong prima facie evidence of a provincial need for timely construction.  And he said:  

"Hydro One's ability to make its case on its merits should not be thwarted by tactical considerations."


It was appropriate in June, some eight months ago, and I suggest it continues to be applicable today, in terms of the tactical considerations that are now being raised should not thwart the applicant's ability and opportunity to have its case heard on the merits.


Now, in the end, as you know, the Board specifically rejected the requested extension that was sought in June by PowerLine and supported by Pollution Probe.  It did, however, make a minor adjustment to the timetable, an adjustment to which Hydro One did not oppose.  It provided for the technical conference, the opportunity to discuss the prefiled evidence, and as noted in the Board's Ruling, to facilitate landowner communications, because at the time that was an expressed concern of various intervenor groups.  


The Board, in Procedural Order No. 3, established a written timetable.  It wasn't written in stone.  It was subject to adjustment, as we have seen, and reflected further minor adjustments in particular to enable Hydro One to file the refinements for potential local route variations.  But it did set out reasonable expectations as to the fact that the hearing will move forward on a schedule to be established by the Board.  I know various submissions have been made by certain intervenors suggesting that we should go to a process akin to that of an assignment court, or some other process.  Well, I suggest that a hearing of this nature, it's not practical, nor would it be consistent with the practice of the Board.  The Board historically what has not enquired of each counsel, each potential witness, an intervenor, as to their availability.  It is simply not practical to do so.


Now, when I looked back at the issues associated with the technical conference, and Mr. Nettleton's submissions certainly refresh them for all of us, I think it is important to remember that out of that exchange that occurred at the technical conference, there clearly was a difference of opinion as to the purpose of the technical conference, what questions could have been asked, should have been asked and in what time frame.  They were aptly summarized by Pollution Probe in a letter to the Board in October, following the technical conference.


But what is important is, no IRs have been asked since the technical conference.  Nor did any intervenor bring a motion to the Board to compel answers to the questions that were refused at the technical conference.  Instead, they chose to wait some four months to now raise it with the hearing being scheduled for later this spring.


I recall the correspondence of Pollution Probe specifically said that it would need significant additional time to prepare its IRs.  Again, these are the words of Pollution Probe in October of 2007.  I submit that four months is ample time for the parties to have prepared and submitted their IRs, if they were intent on pursuing this in an expeditious, efficient manner.


Pollution Probe has now raised a concern with respect to the availability of their proposed expert witness, Mr. Lanzalotta.  Again, in the absence of having submitted IRs, which they could have done at any time in the four months, Hydro One has been precluded from providing detailed answers.  Hydro One should not be in the position of trying to guess or assume which of the questions were adequately answered in the two-day discussion that occurred at the technical conference.


Clearly there were numerous questions asked, numerous answers provided.  I would submit that Hydro One should not be placed in the position of guessing what questions may in fact be pursued as interrogatories.


Now, coming back to Mr. Lanzalotta and the problem he faces, potentially, of not having sufficient time, given the delay in them submitting their interrogatories, he works with a firm called Lanzalotta & Associates.  So, initially, one would presume:  Is it not possible for some of Mr. Lanzalotta's associates to assist him with the preparation of this evidence, or perhaps retain another company, such Synapse Energy Consultants?


Now, this firm came to mind because it's the firm with which Mr. Schlissel - I am probably mispronouncing that - who is the expert witness Pollution Probe identified last June when they were requesting an extensive delay.  He is associated with that firm.


Now, Synapse has some 22 consultants and associates listed on their staff list, on their intranet (sic) site.  They have extensive previous work experience with Mr. Lanzalotta, and, in fact, I note that two of their staff continued to be listed as intervenor contacts on behalf of Pollution Probe.  If we go to the intervenor list on Procedural Order No. 4, you will see a listing under Pollution Probe for Mr. Bob Fagan and Mr. David Schlissel.  I haven't contacted these gentlemen, but it goes to the point that there are alternatives available.  There are other staff and firms they can consult with to assist them in responding in a timely manner.


So, in summary, it is our position that these tactical considerations should not prevent moving forward in a fair, transparent, timely and cost-effective manner, because, as we argued some eight months ago, there are consequences to unnecessary delay.


Thank you.  Those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Does anyone else want to make a submission in support of Hydro One's position?


MR. STEPHENSON:  Madam Chair.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Can you turn your microphone on, Mr. Stephenson?

Submissions by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  Sorry about that.  Richard Stephenson on behalf of the Power Workers' Union.  I support the submissions made by Mr. Nettleton and Mr. Rattray.


I just have a couple of points.  Firstly, I wanted to speak to the issue of whether the -- the suggestion that there somehow is skulduggery or inappropriate conduct in terms of information which has not been provided.


In my experience, the process that has been undertaken in this case is entirely consistent with the process which is undertaken typically by the Board in any number of proceedings.  This particular proceeding is not unique in the Board's history, in any respect, either in the subject matter, the scope, the timing.


The Board has dealt with large leave-to-construct applications in the past.  It has dealt with other cases which are more unique, more complex, more money, more technical, more everything.  There is nothing particularly unique about this case that the Board has not dealt with in its experience, in my submission.


The Board will always adapt its process in order to ensure that it gives people the appropriate opportunity to make their case and to have a fair process, but we can look to what the Board has historically done to assess what is appropriate in this case, and to the extent that there are particular circumstances that arise at particular times that requires the Board to vary its typical process in order to accommodate them, it seems to me that those particular requests can be dealt with if, as and when they arise.


In my submission, we are not there.  The Board has set out a process in terms of how it anticipates this case to proceed, and it has done so on the basis of its own experience and on the basis of submissions from the parties.  It set its expectation regarding the process out in a procedural order.


You will note in the procedural order, of course, there was one round of interrogatories contemplated.  And why, might you ask, was one round of interrogatories contemplated?  Well, because that is the typical process of the Board.  In my experience, there is one round of interrogatories.  There will -- it is not infrequent that there are disputes as to the adequacy of the responses to interrogatories or the appropriateness of refusals to answer interrogatories, and from time to time it requires a motion to the Board and direction from the Board as to how those questions are to be answered.


Presumably, that may occur in this case.  But, in my submission, there is nothing unique about this case that calls for a second round of interrogatories to be set now, on a presumption that it is inevitably to be required.  It is no more inevitable that it is required here than it is in many of the other significant technical, complex cases this Board has to deal with.


And I could be wrong, but I haven't seen it dealt with that way.  You could have eight rounds of interrogatories if you want.  You could have as many as you want.  Is more better?  Well, no.  You have to balance a whole bunch of factors.


The simple fact of the matter is that some people will always want more time and some people will always want more information.  That is always true.  There is nothing unique about this case in that regard, and the Board understands how to handle that and the factors that go into that and the balances that should be struck.


With respect to the issue about the delay in terms of the time table in respect of Pollution Probe's request in particular, I leave that in the Board's hands.  I don't have any unique wisdom.


The Board is, from time to time, called upon to provide indulgences with respect to the needs of particular parties in order to provide fairness.  And, in my submission, nine weeks sure sounds like a heck of a long time to me.  It would be quite a unique -- when you look at the kinds of adjournment requests or extension requests that are typically entertained by this Board, that seems awfully long and I just -- there is nothing that is immediately compelling about the circumstances, to me, that suggests that that kind of extension is warranted.


The same with the issue about the motions day, the proposed motions day.  Again, it's not in the current procedural order -- this is -- my submission on this point is similar to the issue about the multiple rounds of interrogatories.


It's not in the procedural order and it is not there, in my submission, for a perfectly obvious reason, is that, in the Board's experience, it is not typically necessary.  Might it be necessary in this case?  Might it be necessary in a particular case?  Well, the answer to that is maybe, and it depends upon what happens.


The Board may be faced with a request for a motion to resolve disputes regarding the adequacy of responses.  In my view, the appropriate time to deal with that is if, as and when the issue arises, as the Board does, typically.  Again, nothing about this case, in my submission, that would cause the Board to adopt a process which is somehow different than the process it typically adopts.


The Board has a lot of experience and it does things for a reason.  Those are my submissions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.  Anyone else in support of Hydro One's position?


MR. MACINTOSH:  Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. MacIntosh.

Submissions by Mr. MacIntosh:


MR. MACINTOSH:  Energy Probe is content to go forward with both the current issues list and the schedule.  I might mention that Energy Probe did not find that Hydro One acted inappropriately at the technical conference and, in general, our experience with Hydro One is that they tend to respond to issues broadly.  That's my submission.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.  Mr. Klippenstein, Mr. Ross, I will hear reply from you.  I didn't hear anything in the submissions that would require reply from Mr. Fallis or Mr. Pappas.  Mr. Klippenstein, do you want to go first.  Or Mr. Sperduti.  Sorry.  I didn't hear anything that would require reply from you, either.  Mr. Klippenstein.

Further submissions by Mr. Klippenstein:

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Yes.  A number of point in reply.  First of all, I believe Mr. Nettleton first raised the issue of criticism of him and HONI, and I think I made it clear, very clear at the beginning of my submissions, that whatever view one took of the technical conference, Pollution Probe's position here was a practical one and you don't need to decide either HONI acted properly or improperly at the technical conference.  The issue from Pollution Probe's point of view is how do the parties get the information they need at this point, in scheduling terms, to do the job.  That's the point.


Secondly, I think I heard Mr. Nettleton say that this nine-week addition to the schedule is predicated on a motions day.  That is not the case.  It is very clear that the additional time requested has several components to it, only one of which is the motions day.


Thirdly, Mr. Nettleton spent some time talking - and so did Mr. Rattray, I think - about if the questions had come in earlier.  Mr. Nettleton said something -- said "our hands are tied".  I must say, I am going to call a spade a spade.  I think that is bizarre and absurd and pernicious because, on the one hand, through a great deal of good faith effort at the technical conference in a practical kind of way to get information, the signal was:  We weren't going to get it and we should do it in the formal interrogatory process, and then now, we have been told that we should have handed them in, I think, with a sticker on them that says "interrogatory" and that would have made all of the difference.  I just find that bizarre.


I think that, I think there has been no indication, from any of those parties, that any requests for information would, in fact, be handled seriously and to say that their hands are tied is simply bizarre.


Next.  Mr. Nettleton referred to the running of models and suggested that somehow they weren't alerted to this issue or something like that.  In fact, Pollution Probe made a great deal of effort to have Mr. Lanzalotta present at the technical conference and, at that conference he did start to enquire as to whether Hydro One would be willing to conduct this modelling but Hydro One did not respond either way and simply said it wanted to see it as a formal interrogatory.  That can be reviewed at the technical conference transcript for October 15th, 2007 at page 59.  So I don't quite understand Mr. Nettleton's point.  Again, Pollution Probe tried in good faith to raise the topic, asked the questions and we were directed to use the formal interrogatory process.


And by the way, the understanding from all of the signals that Pollution Probe had was that this meant the formal interrogatory process.  There was no sign, that I am aware of, that Hydro One would, in fact, provide answers other than in the formal interrogatory deadline process.


Mr. Nettleton said that Mr. Lanzalotta had had a great deal of time to consider the evidence, which I find very strange since Mr. Lanzalotta is a technical expert, and it is the essence of the work of a technical expert like he, to be able to get into more detail than the rest of us in more technical terms.  I mean, that is precisely why he came to the technical conference, to ask the kinds of questions that are essential to his expertise.  He knows more and understands more than the likes of me.  That's why he is a technical expert and he needs more information than I do.  And that information is not there.  That's the whole point.


So I find it bizarre to suggest that, on the one hand, Mr. Lanzalotta somehow should have been able to consider this evidence, and on the other hand not only are his questions turned down at the technical conference, but apparently HONI considers its hands tied even after the technical conference.


Mr. Nettleton made some point about Pollution Probe or my perspective on the environmental assessment process, which I think amounted to saying that my intended result was that the environmental assessment process would happen first.  I was completely astounded by that.  That idea never occurred to me.  Maybe I should think about it.  But I find that a bizarre suggestion, a bizarre idea.  It has never occurred to me.  I didn't hear any evidence for that assertion by Mr. Nettleton.  And that is, again, frankly bizarre.  As I started out in my initial suggestions, I used Hydro One's assertion or projection which they made on two separate occasions, that there would be a one-year period from approval of terms of reference to approval.  That's their idea.  And that's simply the working tool I used.  So I think Mr. Nettleton was making some kind of insinuation about motives, and I just find it amusing.


Mr. Nettleton made some reference on the issue of whether there would be a prejudicial effect to Hydro One on the proposed schedule from Pollution Probe.  And that was certainly a point I raised.  I said I didn't really see any prejudicial effect.  Mr. Nettleton, in response, said something like:  HONI is not going to sit idly by.  He said they were in a dilemma, and they should be able to have their regulatory applications considered in a timely manner.  I didn't see anywhere in that any kind of evidence or suggestion or identification of any prejudice to say they were going to not sit idly by; fine.  Good.  I don't see how that even relates to my suggestion, based on their projection, that a reasonable one-year estimate of time means that the OEB's process can complete it, be completed before they have their EA approval.  I am not suggesting they sit idly by.  I don't know that anybody has.


Mr. Rattray, for IESO, adopted the submissions of Mr. Nettleton and, again, he adopted, I guess, and repeated what I considered or suggested as some form of a rather bizarre submission, and referred to the fact that no interrogatories have been submitted since the technical conference and that Pollution Probe didn't bring a motion or something like this.


I find that very, very puzzling.  Again, the signals, without exception, that I can think of were that the answer to such requests would have been in the negative.  And instead, repeated signals, I think, have always been to submit formal interrogatories in the interrogatory process.  Up until now, there has been no deadline set by the Board.  So it's certainly, I think, sucking and blowing to repeatedly decline to provide information, and then afterwards point a finger and say, you should have asked for information.


Mr. Rattray made some suggestions about Mr. Lanzalotta.  Again, he seems to have suggested that Mr. Lanzalotta, through Pollution Probe, should have submitted interrogatories, and I wish that somebody would have suggested that earlier, because the suggestion seemed to be the opposite, very clearly and very repeatedly.


So I think there's some caution that should be applied liberally to the type of argument that says, We said no many times before, but you should have tried, anyway.


I think Mr. Rattray said or suggested, by reference to a firm called Synapse, the number of associates there.  I am not quite sure what the suggestion was, but sort of vaguely that there is experts out there.  Certainly Pollution Probe did attempt to retain Synapse and was referred to Lanzalotta.


I don't have any reason to think that Synapse would be in any better position or more willing to do this job now than they were a while back.


So, again, I am not quite sure what Mr. Rattray was suggesting.  I guess that if Mr. Lanzalotta has some kind of problem with the proposed schedule, which I submit is very tight, that Pollution Probe should drop Mr. Lanzalotta and find some other expert who can live within this schedule.


In my submission, that is -- given the real world community and scheduling of experts, that's an absurd suggestion.


Several people seemed to adopt the theme that this was -- that what Pollution Probe is putting forward are tactical considerations.  The word "tactical" seemed to be a favourite word.  I think that what Pollution Probe has done and has said here is that there is some information that needs to flow, so that Pollution Probe and the experts can do their job.


I don't think that is usually the sort of thing that is considered "tactical", and the detailed steps of the proposed schedule are merely intended to enhance the flow of information in a fair way, which I don't think has happened yet.  So those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Klippenstein.  Mr. Ross.

Further Submissions by Mr. Ross:


MR. ROSS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


I will start first with what I perceived, in hearing submissions from my friend Mr. Nettleton, and the submissions from the intervenors, specifically Pollution Probe and the landowner groups, as undisputed in the submissions so far.


One, if the interrogatories, as currently scheduled, were to be submitted on the last day, which they're allowed to do, HONI will struggle in answering them.  They said, yes, we will have a tough time.  We may not be able to provide as full an answer as we otherwise would be able to, if you backed up a little bit and gave us the IRs earlier as opposed to later.


So they're saying basically the same thing we are, except they want to move our IR deadline back, instead of moving the IR deadline forward and allowing for greater time to respond, and that's acknowledged.


Two, my friend from the PowerLine Workers' Union (sic) said, Yes, there probably will be disputes about what productions are made and what answers are provided on the interrogatories.  And that was our submission, as well.  And, as such, a motion day, which can be cancelled, should be included in the time lines, so we're not caught half-stepping in the middle of another sequence of things and we don't really have an available time to deal with these issues.


Finally, the Board has to have the best evidence before it to determine the issues.  Mr. Nettleton said that almost verbatim.  My submission, obviously, is the Board has the only evidence currently, not the best evidence, because it hasn't been forthcoming, and once it is forthcoming, which we will only get from interrogatory requests - as we have been told at every step of the way - then the best evidence will be there and we will have an opportunity to analyze it.


It is interesting that there was no word from my friends about the issues with procedural fairness or natural justice or the legitimate expectation that has been established through the formality and technicality of the process to date.


Obviously, these administrative law principles play relatively heavily when determining issues of this kind or any other kind in an admin setting, and they were simply not addressed, nor were they denied.  It is my submission that clearly it is an issue, and it was one that was not discharged by my friend.


No one said anything about the fact that six days for the intervenors on this side of the table to respond to the IR responses, as currently set out, with our experts or on our own, is enough time.  We said it is not enough time.  No one on the other side of the table said, No, they're wrong.  Six days is more than enough.  They've got tons of time.


There was no conversation about the lack of disclosure from HONI or any of the intervenors speaking in favour, i.e., none ever the documents, data, underlying the assumptions put into this document, which are clearly relevant and which will clearly be analyzed -- and this will be my first process, I don't know for certain, but I would imagine would be analyzed in most similar applications, that it wouldn't just be, yes, this is the conclusion and everyone is, like, yeah.  I don't think that is how it happens.


So those have not been disclosed.  No one has said anything about that.  Obviously they're going to need to be disclosed and we need some more time.  This is not a tactical manoeuvre.  It is an attempt, as Mr. Klippenstein said, for us to do our jobs and do it properly and to provide -- and to discharge our duty not only to our clients, but to the Board.  And, I mean, this, from -- my experience has been in a court setting.  My obligation is to the court, and then to my client.  So I have an obligation to assist the Board in meeting their mandate and being able to ascertain the information in a fulsome fashion.


I was lucky enough to have my motives painted with the same brush as Mr. Klippenstein.  Unfortunately, I think it was painted with the wrong colour.  Again, my desire is not to delay this with the EA process.  My desire is to uphold the order, the language of the Board, which is that things should be in step.  I think that that is important.  I agree with it.  It is something that I feel strongly about, as do my clients.


If it finishes before or after is not a point for me to push or to seek a delay.  My sole purpose in seeking an adjournment is evidence, and the ability to understand and process that evidence appropriately.  It is not done to prejudice the proponent, because if the application is going to be approved, it will be approved.  If it is not, it will not be.


And the prejudice suggested by my friends is a hypothetical, and Mr. Nettleton was very careful to paint it in very gentle language:  Long lead may be an issue, potentially.  And that was the only thing we heard about prejudice on their side whereas, clearly, if we don't have the information and we can't process it, we're not going to be able to test the case.


Mr. Nettleton said that it's not up to the applicant to make the intervenors' case for them.  In this instance - I agree with that absolutely.  In this instance, my concern is that my friend's concern is that disclosing all of the assumptions will, in fact, make my case, and that's why we haven't seen it.


Fifteen months, as Mr. Nettleton pointed out, and no disclosure forthcoming beyond what was originally filed, despite requests made not in the appropriate forum, according to the proponents, but requests made for all of this information at various steps.


We want to see the underlying assumptions.  We want to see the data.  That's fine.  Put it in an IR.  Now he's saying, well -- as Mr. Klippenstein said, Well, I guess we should have put a stamp on it and said, okay, now it is an IR.  Can we have the documents, please?


So regardless of finger-pointing as to who is to blame, the reality is the Board has to have the best evidence before it.  That requires analysis, which requires time.  That is the reality.  You look at the prejudice versus the benefit-and-prejudice analysis.  We are going to be significantly prejudiced if we can't do the analysis as will the Board.  It certainly isn't going to hurt Hydro One if we don't get to analyze their data, because then we only have their assumptions to go on; yippee.  The prejudice to them:  potentially a lead time thing, maybe.


In my respectful submission, that is not -- there isn't a question that there needs to be adjournment of these dates.  The question is:  How should the dates be adjourned?  And the fact that my friend at Hydro One and the people in support of his arguments completely dismiss it is transparent and hangs of position, as opposed to an interest in the natural justice and procedure of this process.  And I think it should be taken into consideration when making the determination.  


Barring any questions, those are my respectful submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  We have no questions.  It is 3:30.  This Panel would very much like to give you an oral decision on both the issues and the schedule this afternoon, so we will break and bring our decisions back at 4:15.  


--- Recess taken at 3:28 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 4:19 p.m.

DECISION ON ISSUES LIST


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


I will give you the issues list decision first.  The Board has heard the submissions from the Ross Group, PowerLine Connections and Mr. Pappas regarding a number of additions to the issues list.  These additions fall into two categories: issues related to the environmental assessment process, its content and timing relative to the leave-to-construct proceeding; and then a group of issues related to specific aspects of the case, assessment of project alternatives, including the evaluation criteria and the applicable standards, assessments of near-term and interim measures, assessment of route alternatives, and conditions that the Board might impose on an approval. 


Hydro One has argued that the purpose of today's proceeding was limited to an assessment of the issues list in light of the amended application, and should not be used as an opportunity to revisit issues which were previously considered and determined.


The Ross Group responded that the PO setting down today's proceeding placed no such limitation on the consideration of the issues list.


The Board agrees with Hydro One that the purpose of today's proceeding is the consideration of the previously approved issues list, is to determine if additions or modifications are required as a result of the amended application.


However, the Board does find that it is appropriate to consider the timing and content of the EA process and to consider whether alterations to the issues list are warranted.  Hydro One's filing of an amended leave-to-construct application and amended proposed terms of reference for the EA processes are closely linked.  Therefore, the amended application does give rise to a consideration of issues relating to the amended proposed terms of reference and the EA process.


We have made that consideration.  The matter was originally heard in the context of a motion for adjournment.  Our finding in that decision of July 4th, 2007 was, and I quote from that decision:

"The Board, however, is of the view that the two processes should not be significantly out of step.  For example, the leave to construct would be significantly affected if the EA terms of reference did not include the same route.  Therefore, the Board will proceed with the leave-to-construct application, but we will reassess the matter in advance of the oral phase of the hearing if the terms of reference are still not approved at that time."


The Board's conclusion today is that the relative timing of the EA process and the Board's leave-to-construct proceeding, now, is essentially the same as it was when the Board previously considered the issues list.  The proposed amended terms of reference are before the Minister, as the original proposed TOR were before the Minister when we considered these matters earlier.


In our prior Issues Day, we considered proposed additions related to the timing of the Board's process and the EA process continues to apply.  Our conclusion in that decision of December -- of September 26th, 2007 was, and again I quote:

"The Board, in the motions day decision order, has already decided that it is premature to determine at this point whether the schedule and the finalization of the leave-to-construct application process should be revised in light of the EA process.  
"The Board has also decided that it will reassess the issue of the relative timing of the leave-to-construct application and the EA process if approved terms of reference are not available in advance of the oral hearing.  Currently the processes are aligned.  The draft EA terms of reference and leave-to-construct application include the same proposed route.  Therefore, the Board finds it unnecessary to include the contested issue on the issues list."


The Board finds that because the relative timing is largely the same now as it was then, our earlier conclusions continue to apply.  Specifically, we find that the two processes are not significantly out of step at this point and that the proposed issues regarding the environmental assessment are unnecessary.


As we stated before, the Board will reassess the issue of the relative timing of the leave-to-construct application if the approved terms of reference are not available in advance of the oral hearing.  Today we are going to be specific about this.


Hydro One is to inform the Board and parties of the status of the environmental assessment two weeks prior to the scheduled oral hearing.  Depending on Hydro One's response, the Board may schedule a motions day to consider the implications of the status and possible additions to the issues list at that time.


With respect to the other group of proposed additions to the issues list, the assessment of project alternatives, including the evaluation criteria and the applicable standards, the assessment of near-term and interim measures, the assessment of route alternatives and conditions the Board might impose on an approval, we find that they do not arise from the amended application.


However, we note that, in substance, these proposed additions are subsumed in the current issues list, and therefore we find it unnecessary to add them, in any event.  Parties may feel they may want to ask interrogatories on these sub-issues.  


We repeat our findings from a prior Issues Day decision:

"The Board reminds parties that the issues list has two purposes.  One, it defines the scope of the proceeding, and, two, it articulates the questions which the Board must address in reaching a decision on the application.  The Board does not believe it is appropriate to define the issues list in complete detail.  For many of the issues, the Board expects that sub-issues will arise during the course of the proceeding which will need to be addressed in argument and in the final decision.  It is not possible to identify all of those detailed issues now, so early in the process.  The Board is therefore hesitant to include detailed sub-issues on the issues list, if matters are otherwise included in the broader issue."


This remains our decision on the matter.  

We note Hydro One's offer to communicate informally with Mr. Pappas regarding the information which was of interest to him.  The Board supports the efforts made by all parties to communicate and discuss issues informally with a view to resolving concerns in an expeditious manner.


Board Staff counsel is also available to Mr. Pappas for purposes of explaining and assisting him in respect of the Board's processes.  

That is our decision on issues.


Any questions in that one before I go on to the matter of scheduling?  If you think of any, we can come back to them.

DECISION ON SCHEDULING


MS. NOWINA:  We are not going to significantly vary the schedule as it stands, but we will make the following changes to the schedule which we think will be helpful to parties.


Parties, as has already been mentioned, may file interrogatories immediately, and we urge them to do so, and until March 10th.  We are requesting or asking Hydro One if it is not going to answer the IR, if it deems it inappropriate to answer the IR, that it must inform parties of this within 24 hours of the receipt of the IR.  If Hydro One is to respond, then they must respond with within two weeks.


We will change the dates on the schedule as follows.  As I said, the final date for interrogatories is still Monday, March 10th, but we expect that a number will come in well before that.  The final date for response for Hydro One is still Tuesday, March 25th, 2008 but with the caveat that it also applies that they must all be responded to within two weeks.


Intervenors and Board Staff who wish to present evidence which is relevant to the proceeding may file that evidence by Tuesday, April 8th.  Any party who requires additional information related to the intervenors' filed evidence shall request it by written interrogatories by Monday, April 14th.


Responses to the interrogatories shall be filed with the Board and delivered to Hydro One and other intervenors by April 28th.


The oral hearing remains at the same time.


Now, I would like to point out to parties that we have seen two proposed schedules in front of us besides the one the Board has put forward.  I think that most of you here recognize that the Board's schedule is also very tight, and any slippage in this schedule won't result in us backing down to or moving forward to, for example, Mr. Klippenstein's dates.  It is likely it would be well after that, given the Board's regulatory schedule right now.


So it really is essential, and I look to Hydro One, because they have such a large responsibility and amount of work ahead of them - I recognize that - in responding to the IRs, but we need to make these dates if we're going to be able to complete the hearing and the process in the time frame that we have determined.


We believe that this decision is appropriate and fair to all parties, because all parties are familiar with this application.  It has been before you for some time.  Hydro One is familiar with a number of the questions that the intervenors have, whether or not they have been formally filed.  We make the assumption they have been thinking about those questions and can respond to them.


The schedule, as we have given it, does provide more time than is standard in a proceeding, and we think this proceeding, although an important one, is not so unique an application that it should receive far more time than a typical case.


Are there any questions on the scheduling decision?

Procedural matters


MR. FALLIS:  Madam Chair, with respect to the questions that have been put forward, I haven't canvassed with the other counsel, but I know that all of the questions that we have submitted as technical questions will be certainly the questions, they will still be asked.  Whether there may be some more that would be there, they will be asked.  To package it up and put another stamp on it, I am wondering if we could canvass with the other counsel if they would still like the other questions answered as they thought they would be answered on the technical conference.  That would save days of having to assemble and put -- you have a special way of presenting them.  You have to put the exhibit up that you're referring to and so forth.  I mean, it's kind of a formal way of doing it.  If the questions are there anyway and I am sure all of the parties are well enough informed about the case to know which question and what exhibit they would go with.  So I would suggest that if they can be just -- the questions are there, if they could be considered to be the questions, you can so order.


MS. NOWINA:  I could so order.  But we do need to get them on the record.  So they do have to be filed in the normal manner that they are filed.  I would hope that you could work with Hydro One and let them know informally, yes, all of my questions previously stand, so Hydro One can start would going on the responses while you put together the official form.


MR. FALLIS:  I can give them that assurance right now.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So they have heard it on the record.


The other thing that I would like to point out is that although Hydro One has two weeks to respond to all of the IRs that they're going to respond to, certainly, if they can respond to them more quickly, we would ask that they do so.  The quicker the turnaround the better.  


Yes.  Ms. Chaplin reminds me, and it is a very good point.  Particularly if the request is, as Mr. Pappas has made some requests, for the filing of reports that already exist and that are fairly straightforward to get a hold of.  We are hoping that this schedule does allow, when necessary, for a second round of IRs during this possess.


MR. FALLIS:  One question with respect to the answers.  The answers are probably relevant to everybody.  So when an answer is given, could it be circulated amongst the...


MS. NOWINA:  I think that is normal process.


MR. FALLIS:  I would hope it would be.


MS. NOWINA:  Everyone receives responses to the IRs.


MR. PAPPAS:  Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, sir.


MR. PAPPAS:  Just a thought.  There was the mention of how we have waited to send our IRs.  But I think consideration of the fact that this meeting today was going to be held and that there may or may not be some alterations in the process, it would only be reasonable for somebody to wait until this is done, than to send things off and find that there's a change that affects what you may or may not ask and when to send it.  So now, now it is clear, it is absolutely clear.  But there was this process today and, like I said, it only makes sense that you would wait until whatever is decided here is done before you go on.


MS. NOWINA:  Before sending the IR?


MR. PAPPAS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  I understand that and I think everyone is clear now and can get off the mark and start sending those IRs in.  Mr. Nettleton.


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Two points.


Mr. Fallis has indicated that he has provided his assurance that the questions that were asked in the technical conference will be the subject matter, and I am assuming the verbatim subject matter, of the proper form of the question he is going to be go asking when they file his interrogatories.  So we can have the assurance that when we are preparing responses, we can cut and paste into the document that will ultimately form our official response.


It would be helpful to know whether that view is also shared by all of the other counsel that are here, and -- so that we, similarly, can move forward with those other questions.  So if you could facilitate that, that would be very helpful.


MS. NOWINA:  I would be happy to facilitate it.  Mr. Klippenstein, the questions that Hydro One now has, are those going to be your interrogatory -- or some of your interrogatory questions.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Obviously I have to check with my consultants.  I would imagine the ones that are on the record now would probably continue, and I will just confirm, check and confirm that.


MS. NOWINA:  It looks like that is the best we can do, Mr. Nettleton.  I assume they will let Hydro One know.  Mr. Ross, Mr. Sperduti?


MR. ROSS:  I would be in the same position as Mr. Klippenstein.  But what I can undertake to do is immediately upon confirming that, informally contact Hydro One, advise them of that and then proceed so there is no wasted effort or duplication.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  There was one thing that I believe I forgot to say in the decision on the schedule, is that we will not be scheduling a motions day.  That doesn't mean we won't have a motions day.  But since the interrogatory response will be coming in in a phased manner, if you like, there is no necessarily appropriate day to have a motions day and we will determine that if and when the need arises.


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, you indicated that IRs -- Hydro One Networks Inc.'s responses to IRs are due on March 25th.  Is that --


MS. NOWINA:  The ones you receive on March 10th are due on the 25th.  You have 15 days for those ones.


MR. NETTLETON:  Right.  And that the idea would be that if we receive IRs earlier, that we would get them out as early as –-


MS. NOWINA:  Within two weeks, within two weeks.  So if you receive one on the 8th --


MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  -- then it has to be in 14 days later.


MR. NETTLETON:  Okay.  And then with respect to the decision regarding the 24 hours of notice to review.  My concern, Madam Chair, and this may be theoretical, but my concern is, is that if we are bombarded with multitudes of IRs in addition to those that we have seen before, that we are obligated to have reviewed to the point of making a determination of whether or not we are in a position to answer, or not, and I would -- I think it is fair to say that those that we do intend to respond to are ones that we could advise, but if there is no decision or if there is a concern about them, that we may need more time than 24 hours to pursue that activity.


That's a good point.  Some of the other responses, too, may not be within the purview of Hydro One's knowledge, that indeed, given the nature of the evidence in the case, there may very well be need to coordinate with the OPA and the IESO.  So I am just concerned about that 24-hour limit.


MS. NOWINA:  Understanding our concern that we want the parties to know as soon as possible, so if there is a delay in the proceedings or a motions day, we all know about it as soon as possible, when do you think it might be -- Hydro One might be able to respond?


MR. NETTLETON:  I think as long as we can understand 

-- we will be working as diligently as possible to inform parties of this issue, if this issue arises.  But in terms of -- I would much rather be in a position of having to explain why it took so long as it did, than to be held to a strict time period of, for example, 24 hours.


We will be undertaking to review the IRs as fast as possible, and to make determinations of whether or not there is going to be need for a motions day, because we will be providing a response that we believe is to a question that we don't see as being relevant.


MS. NOWINA:  Our concern is that we don't want to use the two-week timeline for that.  Your response may be that you can't answer that question and it is worded in a certain way, and the other parties may want to issue another IR that would get at the information or a different set of information.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Madam Chair, if I may make a suggestion.  One of my friends has suggested and we have I think come to consensus here that an option that we would be comfortable with is at the end of the third business day from the receipt of the interrogatory.  In other words, the day that it is received and the end of this second day thereafter is something we would put forward as acceptable to us, I believe.


MR. NETTLETON:  I think that is reasonable.


MS. NOWINA:  Fine.  We will go with that, then we will change the decision to being at the end of the third business day after receipt, to inform the parties whether or not you will be to respond to it, if you cannot respond to it.  You don't have to inform if you are going to respond to it.


MR. NETTLETON:  Again, just to be clear.  If we consider the question to not be relevant, is that the type of response that I am assuming we will want to advise the party asking of that response?


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  Because it may give rise to a need for a motions day.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  It would fall into that category.


Any other questions?  I want to make sure we're all clear when we leave here today.


MR. PAPPAS:  Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pappas.


MR. PAPPAS:  So for clarity, I just want to be sure.  I believe I heard you say, but I want to be absolutely sure, that the mentioned documents, since they are existing documents that the applicant and the proponents have are to be shared with the intervenors if they want to see them, which I imagine means that it has to be sent to us and also to the Board, so that everybody is aware of the existence and reality of those documents, and we can look at them and do whatever we are going to do; is that how I understand that?


MS. NOWINA:  That's a good question, Mr. Pappas, because there was some discussion about Hydro One informally helping you access things.  If it is something you think is important that is on the record that all parties should see, then you should request it through an interrogatory, and then it will get on the record and all parties will see it.


MR. PAPPAS:  Well, I guess what I want to ask after that is, again -- like, because you have mentioned the possibility of a second round of interrogatories.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.


MR. PAPPAS:  My only concern is that if there is important evidence that itself should be subject -- the information should be the subject of an interrogatory, if there is only the one chance at interrogatory, then you get the information, but you can't ask questions about it.


So I guess what I have to ask also is this:  In the interrogatory, are we limited to producing our interrogatories and sending it as one item; or could we, say, break it up into several items as long as it gets there by the expressed time?


MS. NOWINA:  The latter.  You may send in your interrogatories as you write them, if you like.  You may send in interrogatories.  If you send in a set of interrogatories, Hydro One responds, and you are still within the time frame, and that prompts you to send in further interrogatories.  As long as you are within the time frame, you may do that.


MR. PAPPAS:  So if I asked for the evidentiary material at the beginning of my interrogatories, then I would have the chance to look at it and make interrogatory questions based on that material.  Thank you very much.


MS. NOWINA:  The times are still tight.  There is no question about that.  So it will take everyone working diligently to turn things around, you getting in those interrogatory questions in as soon as possible, Hydro One responding.  But you should be able to do it within that time frame.


MR. PAPPAS:  I will be sending some off right away.


I do have to say that at the technical conference, I framed most -- I was aware that there was going to be this question about questions that were not going to be answered, because they were in the form of interrogatories.


So I double-checked everything I asked to make sure they had a chance of being answered, and, basically, I didn't bring any questions that I felt were of an interrogatory nature.  So my questions, in my case, would be questions that Hydro One did not see from me at the technical conference.


MS. NOWINA:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Pappas.  Mr. Nettleton.


MR. NETTLETON:  My colleagues have raised another good question that I would like to raise with you.  We have, really, two categories of questions that arise out of the technical conference.  There are the written questions that were provided to us in advance, and I believe those are the questions which Mr. Fallis and Mr. Ross and Mr. Sperduti, I think, were the authors of; and Mr. Klippenstein, I believe, asked some.  I have to check that.


But the other group were effectively undertakings or oral interrogatories that were asked during the technical conference, and the standard response that we provided was, Let's see this in the form of an IR and we will get back to you, but we're not prepared to answer it from the stand.  Let's see what it is.


We are comfortable with the understanding here that it is the written questions that we have seen that Hydro One has looked at, has had the opportunity, but what we are not clear is whether the questions that were the subject matter of the technical conference itself take the form of those responses.  I just don't know whether they fit within that same category.


MS. NOWINA:  Let me answer the question in two ways so that we're clear.  In terms of ones that you already have in writing, even those I expect the parties to send you a formal interrogatory request so we have that on the record as a formal interrogatory request.


We're just trying to get a bit of a head start here for you to recognize what's going on, but you still have the two weeks after you receive the formal interrogatory request.


Anything else, obviously if it's buried in a transcript, they are still going to have to be sent to you as a formal interrogatory request, and I wouldn't expect you to be going back through transcripts trying to find questions that you might be preparing for right now, unless that made sense to you, but I am not directing you to do that.


MR. NETTLETON:  That hasn't been what Hydro One has effectively looked at.  We have focussed our attention upon the written questions and considered those.  So if the subject matter of the oral questions are and do take the form of an interrogatory, do I understand that that question we have two weeks to respond to?


MS. NOWINA:  Every interrogatory you have two weeks to respond to, regardless of where it originated.


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Any other questions?  Thank you very much, everyone.  We are now adjourned.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:47 p.m.
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